AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

EFFECT OF EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS DNA ON THE SEVERITY OF INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION IN A MOUSE MODEL OF ACUTE COLITIS

by

SIRINE IMAD ANDARI

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon June 2020

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

EFFECT OF EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS DNA ON THE SEVERITY OF INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION IN A MOUSE MODEL OF ACUTE COLITIS

by SIRINE IMAD ANDARI

Approved by:

Elias A. Rahal, PhD, Associate Professor Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology

Advisor

Ghassan Matar, PhD, Professor and Chairperson Member of Committee Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology

4 4 4

Marwan El-Sabban, PhD, ProfessorMember of CommitteeDepartment of Anatomy, Cell Biology and Physiological Sciences

angres

Margret Shirinian, PhD, Assistant Professor Member of Committee Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology

Date of thesis: June 19, 2020

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

THESIS, DISSERTATION, PROJECT RELEASE FORM

Student Name:		
Andari	Sirine	Imad
Last	First	Middle
 Master's Thesis Dissertation 	O Master's Project	

I authorize the American University of Beirut to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis, dissertation, or project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

✓ I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of it; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes

after : One ---- year from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project. Two ---- years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project. Three ---- years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

June 23, 2020 ados.

Signature

Date

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Foremost, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my advisor, Dr. Elias Rahal, for the considerable support, encouragement, patience, thoughtful comments, and guidance throughout this research. His insight and knowledge of the subject matter steered me in the right direction and made this MSc study an inspiring experience. Secondly, I would like to extend my gratitude to my thesis committee members: Dr. Margret Shirinian, Dr. Ghassan Matar, and Dr. Marwan El-Sabban, for their constructive advice and motivation.

My sincere thanks go to my fellow lab members, particularly Hadi Hussein, Sukayna Fadlallah, and Dr. Marwa Chehab, for all their invaluable support, assistance, and feedback. This thesis work would not have been completed without their helpful contributions.

A very special thanks to my support system in life, my parents and brother, who never ceased to do everything possible for my sake. I am deeply honored and blessed to have you as my family; nothing would have been done without you.

Finally, my endless thanks go to my life partner and soulmate, Tarek. You were a source of unconditional support, inspiration, strength, and empowerment throughout my MSc study.

Thank God for everything.

AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Sirine Imad Andari

for

<u>Master of Science</u> <u>Major</u>: Microbiology and Immunology

Title: Effect of Epstein-Barr Virus DNA on the Severity of Intestinal Inflammation in a Mouse Model of Acute Colitis

Background: Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection has been lately associated with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), which is a collective term for chronic relapsing inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract with a poorly defined etiopathogenesis. In recent research, our group showed that feeding flies EBV DNA aggravates cellular and humoral innate inflammatory responses in a fruit fly model of gut inflammation. Whether such an exacerbatory role is exhibited by EBV DNA in a complex mammalian system, such as in mice, remains to be investigated. Therefore, the main objective of this study was to determine the effect of EBV DNA on the severity of intestinal inflammation in a murine model of acute colitis.

Methods: To assess the colitogenic potential of Dextran Sodium Sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis in C57BL/6J mice and standardize the optimal DSS concentration for examining the effect of EBV DNA on gut inflammation in subsequent aims, four groups of female C57BL/6J mice were administered 0.5%, 1%, 1.5%, or 2.5% DSS in drinking water for seven days to induce acute colitis. A fifth group served as control and was fed normal drinking water. On day 3, mice were given sterile water by rectal gavage (to control for the route of administration of EBV DNA in this study). All mice were clinically scored on a daily basis for changes in body weight, stool consistency, and fecal blood in assessment of the disease activity index (DAI). On day 7, mice were sacrificed and their colon lengths were measured for macroscopic evaluation of colonic inflammation. The 1.5% DSS concentration was employed in the investigation of the effect of EBV DNA on clinical manifestations and macroscopic inflammatory markers of colitis in the C57BL/6J mouse model of the disease. For this experiment, mouse groups received either 1.5% DSScontaining or normal drinking water for 7 days. Two DSS-treated groups were then rectally administered sterile water or 288 x 10^3 copies of EBV DNA in sterile water on day 3. Two other normal drinking water-fed groups served as controls and received sterile water or EBV DNA by rectal gavage on day 3. The severity of colitis was evaluated on the basis of the DAI and the colon length shortening that were determined in a similar manner as in the DSS concentration selection protocol.

Results: In the DSS dosage determination experiment, mice-treated with 1.5% DSS in drinking water presented a progressive aggravation of clinical colitis together with a moderately intense DAI and a prominent colon shortening showing statistically significant differences in comparison to the normal water-fed control group, which led us to investigate the effect of EBV DNA on colitis severity using the 1.5% DSS concentration in

the C57BL/6J mouse model of the disease. Mouse groups that received DSS alone or EBV DNA in addition to DSS exhibited markedly higher values of body weight loss, DAI, and colon length shortening compared to the normal water-fed control group. Moreover, the increase in the DAI score was significantly more elevated in mice treated with EBV DNA in addition to DSS than in mice treated with DSS alone. In line with the DAI results, mice receiving DSS plus EBV DNA showed a significantly more pronounced reduction in their colon lengths compared to mice receiving DSS alone.

Conclusion: The observed worsening of clinical symptoms and colonic inflammation upon administration of EBV DNA with DSS over treatment with DSS alone indicates that EBV DNA is associated with increased severity of colitis in a mouse model of the disease. These findings merit further investigation to understand the underlying mechanisms and eventually gain insight into potential therapeutic targets that may mitigate inflammatory responses attributed to EBV DNA.

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	xi
LIST OF TABLES	xii

Chapter

I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. LITERATURE REVIEW	3
A. Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV)	3
1. EBV Structure	3
2. EBV Genomic Structure and Genes	4
a. EBNA1	5
b. EBNA2	5
c. EBNA3	5
d. EBNA-LP	6
e. LMP1 and LMP2	6
f. EBER-1 and EBER-2	6
g. MicroRNA	6
3. EBV Types	7
4. Epidemiology and Transmission	7
5. EBV-related Diseases	8
6. EBV Life Cycle and Pathogenesis	11
B. Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD)	15
1. Types of IBD	15

	2. Epidemiology	16
	3. Genetic Factors in IBD	18
	a. Innate Immune Pathways in IBD Genetics	19
	i. Defects in NOD2 Pathway	19
	ii. Defects in Autophagy	.20
	b. Adaptive Immune Pathways in IBD Genetics	21
	4. The Gastrointestinal Mucosal Immune System	22
	a. Intact Epithelial Barrier and Innate Immunity	24
	i. Role of Epithelial Cells in Innate Immunity of a Healthy Gut	25
	ii. Role of Innate Lymphoid Cells (ILCs) in a Healthy Gut	26
	b. Adaptive Immunity in the GI Tract	27
	5. Defective Mucosal Immunity in IBD	28
	a. Defective Intestinal Barrier Function	28
	i. Intestinal Permeability	29
	ii. Mucus Production	29
	iii. Antimicrobial Peptide Production	29
	b. Innate Immune Dysregulation in IBD	30
	i. Role of Epithelial Cells in IBD	30
	ii. Involvement of Neutrophils and Macrophages in IBD	
	iii. Role of Dendritic Cells	32
	iv. Role of ILCs in IBD	32
	c. Adaptive Immune Dysregulation in IBD	33
	i. Effector T-cell Abnormalities in Crohn's Disease	33
	ii. Effector T-cell Abnormalities in Ulcerative Colitis	35
	iii. Defective T-cell-mediated Regulation in IBD	
	6. Association of EBV with IBD	
	7. Treatment	39
III N	ATTRIALS AND METHODS	12
111. 1		
А.	Mice	42
_		
В.	Induction of Acute DSS colitis in C57BL/6J Mice	42
C.	Treatment of Colitic Mice with EBV DNA	44
D.	Clinical Evaluation of Colitis	47
	1. Weight Loss	47
	2. Stool Consistency	48
	3. Blood in Stools	48
	a. Benzidine Fecal Occult Blood Test Procedure	49
E.	Colon Macroscopic Assessment	50

F.	Statistical Analysis	61
IV. F	RESULTS	52
A.	Selection of Dextran Sodium Sulfate (DSS) Concentration for the C57BL/6 Mouse Acute Colitis Model	J 2
B.	Effect of EBV DNA on Clinical Manifestations and Macroscopic Inflammatory Markers of Colitis in a Mouse Model of the Disease	57
V. D	ISCUSSION	53
BIBI	LIOGRAPHY7	'1

ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure		Page	
	1.	Experimental setup and timeline of dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) concentration selection for the C57BL/6J mouse acute colitis model	.44
	2.	Experimental design used to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA on colitis severity in C57BL/6J mice	.46
	3.	Disease activity index (DAI) scores in each group of C57BL/6J mice of th dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) concentration selection protocol	e .55
	4.	Representative of gross rectal bleeding exhibited on day 7 by C57BL/6J m treated with 1.5% dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) in drinking water	ice 56
	5.	Colon length measurements in each group of C57BL/6J mice after treatmet with different concentrations of dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) in drinking water for 7 days for DSS concentration selection	ent .56
	6.	Average percent body weight change in control and experimental mouse groups used to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA on colit severity in C57BL/6J mice	is .60
	7.	Disease activity index (DAI) scores in control and experimental mouse groups used to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA on colit severity in C57BL/6J mice	is .61
	8.	Colon length measurements in control and experimental mouse groups use to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA on colitis severity in C57BL/6J mice	ed 1 62

TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Disease activity index (DAI) scoring system used for evaluation of dextra sodium sulfate (DSS) colitis in C57BL/6J mice	n 50
2.	Average disease activity index (DAI) in each group of C57BL/6J mice of dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) concentration selection protocol	the 57
3.	Average disease activity index (DAI) in C57BL/6J mice used to assess th effect of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA on colitis severity	e 62

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) is a chronic autoimmune syndrome characterized by recurrent gastrointestinal inflammation affecting more than 10 million people around the world. IBD has an unclear multifactorial pathophysiology developing from the convergence of genetic predisposing factors, immune system dysregulations, environmental triggers, and intestinal microbiota alterations. In this regard, animal models provide a valuable approach to improve our understanding of the complex processes involved in the pathogenesis of IBD and to develop potential therapeutic strategies that contribute to controlling intestinal inflammation in patients. Of the several animal colitis models, dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis is largely used in murine models. For many years Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), a herpes virus that usually establishes latency in infected memory B lymphocytes, has been known to be associated with autoimmune and chronic inflammatory diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA), and is more recently proposed to play a role in the pathogenesis of IBD. Knowing that EBV has a potential to reactivate after primary infection whereby EBV DNA is shed, a previous study by our group assessed the possibility of triggering pro-autoimmune processes through persistent EBV DNA. The study revealed that the levels of interleukin 17A (IL-17A), which is a proinflammatory cytokine associated with autoimmune processes, are elevated in response to intraperitoneal injection of EBV DNA in mice. In correlation to IBD, a recent study was carried out by our group to determine the effect of EBV DNA on intestinal damage induced

by DSS in *Drosophila melanogaster* as a model system. The results of the study showed that feeding flies EBV DNA aggravates the gut inflammation produced by DSS but does not initiate the inflammation by itself. While fruit flies possess innate immunity components, they do not have an adaptive immune system; hence, studying the effect of EBV DNA on more complex pathways requires establishing a higher model system. The overall objective of this study is to determine whether EBV DNA results in enhanced severity of intestinal inflammation in a murine model of acute colitis.

The specific aims of the study at hand, hence, were to:

- Examine the functionality of the DSS-induced murine colitis model in C57BL/6J mice and determine the appropriate DSS concentration to be employed in subsequent investigations.
- 2. Assess the effect of EBV DNA on colitis activity and colonic morphology in a mouse model of the disease.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

A. Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV)

Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), also designated as *human herpesvirus 4* (HHV-4), belongs to the *Herpesviridae* family of viruses whose members typically establish latency following primary infection (1, 2). According to the exercised viral classification by the International Committee on the Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV), EBV is part of the *Gammaherpesvirinae* subfamily and falls under its *Lymphocryptovirus* genus (1,3, 4). This human pathogen was originally identified in 1964 by Epstein and Barr following its isolation from cultured Burkitt's lymphoma cells and now is recognized as one of the most prevalent viruses with the world population being seropositive in 90 to 95% of adults (5 - 10).

1. EBV Structure

EBV is a large enveloped double-stranded (ds) DNA virus that shares the common virion structure of herpesviruses (11, 12). In this sense, the genome of EBV is encapsulated by an icosahedral nucleocapsid constituted of 162 virally-encoded capsomeres (4, 12 - 14). Surrounding the capsid is an amorphous tegument or matrix composed of proteins involved in the viral replication (12, 15). Following the tegument is an outer lipid-containing envelope that is acquired from the host membrane during the release stage of the viral life cycle (12). Found on the envelope are virally-encoded glycoprotein (gp) spikes that interact with host receptors (4). The most abundant of which is gp350/220 that binds to CD21 receptor on the surface of B cells (16, 17).

2. EBV Genomic Structure and Genes

Like other herpesviruses, the EBV genome is composed of a linear double-stranded DNA molecule (12). The genome is approximately 172 kilo base pairs (kb) and is arranged into internal repeat (IR) and terminal repeat (TR) sequences (4, 12, 18). The IRs are four in number and divide the genome into unique sequences of different sizes. The first IR (IR1) constitutes the major IR as it separates the genome into a short unique sequence (Us) and a long one that is further partitioned by the remaining IRs into four shorter sequences, termed U2, U3, U4, and U5 (4) (19, 20). As for the TRs, these are located at both ends of the viral genome and mediate its circularization into an episome in infected cells during latency (12, 21). EBV genome encodes for 85 genes that majorly participate in the EBV lytic cycle (18, 22). However, a limited set of these genes is only expressed in latently infected cells and referred to as latent viral genes (23). These latent genes consist of virally encoded proteins, non-coding EBER RNAs, and microRNAs. The virally encoded protein can be further grouped into six nuclear proteins (EBNAs 1,2,3A,3B,3C, and LP) and three latent membrane proteins (LMP-1, LMP-2A, and LMP-2B). EBV latent genes have multiple functions related to the maintenance of EBV infection, B cell transformation, and tumorigenesis (12).

a. <u>EBNA1</u>

The first identified EBV protein was the EBV nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) that mediates several EBV-related functions (24). Among these functions is its integral role in the maintenance of the viral episome in EBV-infected cells. This protein tethers EBV DNA to cellular chromosomal DNA and promotes its replication. It also regulates the transcription of several latent proteins, such as EBNA 1 and 2. Moreover, it escapes proteasomal degradation inhibiting its antigen presentation to CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) through the MHC I pathway (9, 12). Of the EBV latent proteins, EBNA1 is the only one that is expressed in all EBV-associated malignancies (25).

b. <u>EBNA2</u>

EBNA2 is among the first genes expressed in EBV-infected B cells (26). This nuclear protein acts as a transcriptional regulator for latent viral and cellular gene expression as well as an inducer of primary B cell growth transformation (12).

c. EBNA3

EBNA3 family of proteins encompasses three gene products, namely EBNA3A, EBNA3B, and EBNA3C, that contribute to EBV latency. Of these proteins, only EBNA3A and EBNA3C are considered essential for B cell transformation and are regarded as oncogenic, while all of them are thought to support the viability of EBV-infected lymphoblastoid cell lines (12).

d. <u>EBNA-LP</u>

EBNA leader protein (EBNA-LP) is the first latent protein produced by EBV-infected B cells and participates, in conjunction with EBNA2, in B cell growth transformation (12).

e. LMP1 and LMP2

Latent membrane proteins (LMPs) are integral membrane proteins required for the establishment of viral latency. LMP1 and LMP2A function as viral mimics of the costimulatory receptor CD40 and the B cell antigen receptor (BCR), respectively, allowing the activation of signaling pathways in a ligand-independent manner. These viral mediators also appear to play an important role in the EBV-mediated B cell transformation and in the induction of oncogenesis (9).

f. EBER-1 and EBER-2

The EBV-encoded small RNAs (EBERs) are the most abundant non-coding nuclear RNAs expressed in latently EBV-infected cells (12, 27). While the role of EBERs in the viral life cycle remains to be elucidated, findings have demonstrated that they participate in the antiviral innate immunity through binding to the RNA-activated protein kinase (PKR) and inhibiting its mediated apoptotic control mechanism (28). The involvement of EBERs in oncogenesis and in growth transformation of EBV-infected B cells has been reported (28).

g. MicroRNA

EBV DNA encodes several microRNAs (miRNAs) (9). Although their function is relatively unknown, emerging evidence has indicated that they play a role in immune

evasion through inhibiting the expression of viral antigens, in suppressing lytic replication, and in maintaining latency in infected cells (29). Moreover, studies have indicated that these genes support the development and progression of EBV-associated malignant tumors (30).

3. EBV Types

A widespread distribution of two types of EBV, classified as EBV-1 and EBV-2, exists in the human population (4). The most significant variation between these two types at the genomic level is in their EBNA2 gene that exhibits more efficient *in vitro* B cell transformation properties in EBV-1 than EBV-2 (4, 12). As for their geographic distribution, EBV-1 appears to be more prevalent in the US and Europe, whereas both seem to be equally distributed in Africa (8).

4. Epidemiology and Transmission

EBV is widely disseminated around the world, with humans serving as its only natural host (4). Studies show than more than 90% of the world's adults get infected with EBV at some point in their lives and develop antibodies that provide durable immunity (4, 8, 12). The age at which primary infection occurs differs greatly between world populations. In developing countries, children get infected with EBV early in life, while in developed countries, infection usually occurs in early adulthood. The early acquisition of primary EBV infection in developing countries is suggested to be related to low socioeconomic conditions and poor hygienic practices (4). The main mode of transmission of EBV is orally through the saliva during infection (31, 32). Evidence for the transmission of EBV

by sexual intercourse, blood transfusion, and organ transplantation have also been documented, yet these cases are rare (33).

5. EBV-related Diseases

EBV is the etiological agent of Infectious Mononucleosis (IM). Although most EBV infections are inapparent or mild, in some cases, they can lead to complications, and even more can trigger the development of different malignancies. EBV infections also constitute a risk factor for the development of autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), rheumatoid arthritis (RA), and multiple sclerosis (MS), and more recently inflammatory bowel disease (34 - 36).

During childhood, primary EBV infections are common and usually asymptomatic or subclinical. When symptoms do occur, they are manifested by ear, gastrointestinal, and upper respiratory tract indications (10, 37). However, when EBV infections are acquired during adulthood, they give rise to IM in 35 to 50% of cases (38). IM is the most common clinical manifestation of EBV that is characterized by tonsillar pharyngitis and cervical adenopathy. Following an incubation period of 30 to 50 days, patients infected with EBV present with malaise, headache, fever, sore throat, lymphadenopathy, anorexia, as well as with sporadic cases of hepatomegaly and jaundice (10, 33, 37). Moreover, IM patients can develop lymphocytosis, usually with atypical lymphocytes on peripheral blood smears (37). IM specific symptoms resolve within 1 to 2 weeks, but patients may continue to experience fatigue for months (10). In rare cases, complications related to EBV infection are established. Acute complications of IM include morbilliform rash, splenic rupture, airway

obstruction, hematologic abnormalities, and neurological disturbances such as Guillain-Barre syndrome and meningoencephalitis (10, 33, 37).

EBV infections are also associated with a number of delayed complications that can be categorized into epithelial diseases, hematologic conditions, and lymphoproliferative disorders. One delayed complication is oral hairy leukoplakia (OHL), which is a disease of the lingual epithelium with affected patients showing benign white lesions on the lateral portion of their tongue (37, 39). This disease is usually described in relation to Human Immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, but it can also occur in other cases of immunodeficiency (11, 37, 40). Examples of blood disorders that develop in association with EBV infection in immunocompromised subjects include hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (HLH) and lymphomatoid granulomatosis (10, 37). Likewise, EBVinduced lymphoproliferative disorders are also observed in individuals with congenital or acquired immunodeficiencies and include the X-linked (XLP) and the post-transplant (PTLP) lymphoproliferative diseases (12, 37).

Being a DNA tumor virus, EBV has also been shown to play a pathogenic role in the development of a variety of human cancers (37). These include Burkitt lymphoma (BL), which is situated in the jaw and most prevalent among childhood tumors in Africa. Another B cell neoplasm associated with EBV infection is Hodgkin lymphoma (HL), where several studies have indicated the presence of the EBV genome in tissues obtained from HL patients (10, 33). As for people infected with HIV, high EBV loads promote the development of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) (10, 12). EBV is also associated with nasopharyngeal carcinoma, which is a rare epithelial cell cancer that typically affects populations in southern China (33). Finally, EBV-associated malignancies do not spare T

cells, and cases of T cell lymphoma have been observed in individuals with EBV infection (41).

The association of EBV with autoimmune diseases (AIDs) dates back to 1971 following the detection of elevated levels of EBV-specific antibodies (Abs) in SLE patients (42, 43). After encountering an antigen, specific lymphocytes may become activated and induce an immune response, or they may be inactivated or deleted, resulting in tolerance. The process of immunological self-tolerance is a fundamental property of the normal immune system. When this process fails, an immune response against the host is mounted, a state referred to as autoimmunity (44). A combination of different factors contributes to the development of autoimmunity. These include genetic susceptibility, flawed immune regulations, and environmental triggers such as infections and local tissue injury (34). EBV is an example of an environmental factor whose potential involvement in the pathogenesis of AIDs has been explained by a number of proposed mechanisms, including molecular mimicry, bystander activation of autoreactive T and B cells, and epitope spreading, among others (34). Molecular mimicry is a mechanism by which sequence similarities between foreign antigens of an infectious agent and self-antigens of the host result in cross-reactive immune responses (33, 44, 45). This can be exemplified by the cross-reactive response of antibodies directed against an EBNA-1 epitope in MS patients to the myelin basic protein (MBP) of the central nervous system (46). Other findings in MS patients suggest that cytotoxic T cell immune responses primarily directed against EBV could result in bystander damage to the CNS (47, 48). During this process, EBV infections trigger the activation of antigen presenting cells (APCs) that in turn might drive the activation of nonspecific T cells such as pre-primed autoreactive T cells, apart from the EBV-specific T

cells, and thus promote the development of AIDs (34, 35). Nevertheless, despite all the evidence linking EBV to autoimmune diseases, the definitive role of EBV in these diseases remains unconfirmed and requires further study. Our group previously reported that the systemic administration of EBV DNA in mice enhances the secretion of interleukin 17A (IL-17A), an autoimmune-related proinflammatory cytokine (11). In follow-up studies, our group demonstrated that Toll-like receptors 3, 7, and 9 (TLR9) are involved in the increase in IL-17A production in response to EBV DNA (49). In support of our observation of an enhanced effect of EBV DNA on IL-17A levels in mice, our group further indicated that the EBV DNA load in RA patients correlates to a higher serum level of IL-17A (49). More recently, our group showed that EBV DNA contributes to IBD progression in a Drosophila melanogaster model of gut inflammation induced by a dextran sodium sulfate (DSS), a colitogenic chemical, whereby more enhanced cellular and humoral innate inflammatory responses were observed in flies treated with DSS then EBV DNA rather than in flies treated with DSS and EBV DNA at the same time (50). Several aspects of the correlation between EBV and AIDs remain to be elucidated.

6. EBV Life Cycle and Pathogenesis

EBV has a life cycle that is adapted to immune cell compartments where it evades eliminatory host immune responses, specifically cytotoxic T cell surveillance, and progresses to lifelong persistence in a transcriptionally quiescent state in resting memory B cells while exploiting the physiology of normal B cell differentiation (9, 12, 51). The life cycle of EBV is initiated following the spreading of the virus in the saliva and its arrival to the oropharynx, where it enters the epithelium surrounding the pharyngeal lymphoid ring

and undergoes lytic infection (4, 12, 31, 52). Penetration of EBV into epithelial cells is facilitated by the binding of the viral BMRF-2 proteins with the β 1 integrins, then the binding of the viral gH/gL with $\alpha\nu\beta6$ or $\alpha\nu\beta8$ integrins that further promote the fusion of EBV envelope with the epithelial cell membrane (12, 53 - 55). These oropharyngeal epithelial cells are considered the primary cellular targets of EBV and act as sites for productive replication (4, 56 - 58). After invading the nasopharyngeal epithelial barrier, the virus migrates to the neighboring lymphoid tissues and infects naïve B cells resulting in a state of latent infection (4, 31, 33). Interaction between the virus and B cells occurs through a different set of mediators than those associated with epithelial cells. In this sense, B cell infection is initiated by the binding of the major EBV envelope glycoprotein gp350/220 with the B cell surface molecule CD21, which is also referred to as complement receptor type 2 (CR2) as it interacts with the C3d complement component (12, 17, 59, 60). The penetration of EBV into B cells is also mediated by the attachment of a second membrane glycoprotein, gp42, to the Major Histocompatibility Complex class II (MHCII) molecule on the cell surface (4, 12, 61). Following adsorption and endocytosis into membrane vesicles, the viral envelope fuses with cell membrane allowing the release of the nucleocapsid into the B cell cytoplasm in a process involving the gp85, gp25, and gp42 glycoproteins (4, 12, 62-64). When EBV infects these naïve B cells, it drives their transformation into activated lymphoblasts that remain latently infected and express the latent genes that define the third latency program in B cell (4, 33). In addition to epithelial and B cells, *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that EBV also infects other human cells like T cells and monocytes, yet through less understood mechanisms (4, 12, 65, 66).

During latency, four different transcription programs, termed as latency programs 0, I, II, and III, are noted in latently infected B cells based on the expression of different sets of EBV latent proteins (4, 9). Transition to the latent phase begins with the latency III program that activates the transformation of B cells into lymphoblasts (4, 67). In this program, all latent genes are expressed, but EBNA-1, two non-coding small ENA, and microRNAs are the only genes that continue to be expressed in all of the other forms of latency (4). Following the type III latency program, activated B cells migrate into the lymph node follicle and begin to proliferate, forming the germinal center (GC) (4). In the GC, B cells stimulate the type II latency program, which is also known as the default program where a limited number of latent genes are expressed (4). At this stage, B cells produce the EBNA1 and LMP1/2A proteins, differentiate into memory B cells, and acquire the ability to survive for long periods in response to survival signals provided by the default program (68, 69). These cells then exit the GC and recirculate in the peripheral blood (70). The long-lived memory B cells maintain a completely silenced viral gene expression and assume a form of latent infection termed latency 0 (4). The lifelong persistence of EBV is only confined to the resting memory B cells that bypass the immune system due to their downregulated gene expression (4, 33, 71). During the latent phase, the linear viral genome circularizes and remains in the cell in the form of extrachromosomal double-stranded plasmids, also known as episomes (12, 72). When the EBV-infected memory B cells divide, they express the EBNA1 protein that is responsible for maintaining the episome and enabling its replication during the S phase of the cell cycle (12, 72, 73). In these cells, the episome divides under the influence of the cellular DNA polymerase, unlike lytic phase cells where the EBV genome replication is carried out by the viral DNA polymerase (74 –

76). The EBNA1-only program is referred to as latency I. In the long run, latently-infected memory B cells can move back to the tonsils and resume their role as the reservoirs of EBV reactivation where EBV regains its potential for lytic replication and productive viral progeny synthesis (9, 33, 71).

Apart from the induction of the viral lytic cycle during primary infection, viruses can reenter the lytic replication phase after latency. This is initiated following the disruption of latency by cellular signals that result in the expression of the viral transcription factor BZLF1 that brings about this switch (9, 12). During lytic replication, latently infected memory B cells resume their differentiation into plasma cells, and the virus reproduces with associated infection of naïve B cells and epithelial cells (12, 20). Lytic cycle genes are grouped into different temporal phases, based on the time they are expressed in association with DNA replication, and include immediate early, early, and late proteins (13, 33). Immediate early genes represent the genes that are transcribed in newly infected cells prior to any new synthesis of viral proteins and encode for proteins that transactivate early gene promoters. Two main immediate-early proteins are the BZLF1 and BRLF1 transcriptional activators aforementioned as stimulators for switching from latent to lytic infection (12). The expression of early genes results in the production of protein products that function as enzymes during viral DNA replication (33, 77). Finally, late genes encode mostly for structural proteins of the viral particle such as the viral capsid antigen (VCA) against which antibody-mediated immune responses to EBV are directed (12, 20, 33).

B. Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD)

Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) is a chronic idiopathic disorder characterized by uncontrolled inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract with repeated cycles of relapse and remission (78 – 80). Although the etiology of IBD is poorly defined, it is likely to be multifactorial and precipitated, as other autoimmune diseases, by a complex interaction of multiple pathogenic factors including susceptibility gene variants, environmental triggers, gut microbiota changes, and immune response dysregulations (80, 81).

1. Types of IBD

IBD encompasses mainly two major forms, Crohn's disease (CD) and Ulcerative Colitis (UC), that can be classified based on their distinguishing anatomical, histological and clinical features (78, 82 – 85). Concerning the affected location of the GI tract, Crohn's disease can engage any portion of the GI tract from the mouth to the perianal region. Still, in most cases, it affects the terminal ileum and the colon (79, 82 – 84, 86, 87). Areas of involvement in CD are characterized by the presence of skip lesions, which are normal segments between affected regions in the bowel resulting in a non-continuous patchy pattern of inflammation (79, 83, 84, 87). In contrast, inflammation in UC is confined to the colon; it arises in the rectum and spreads continuously to cover more sections of the colon (79, 83, 85 – 87). On the histological level, CD can be distinguished from UC in that inflammation in this subtype is typically transmural involving all layers of the intestinal wall, while in UC it is superficial and limited to the mucosa and submucosa (79, 82, 86, 87). Lymphocytic cell infiltration is observed in both diseases. These infiltrates are accompanied by dense accumulations of macrophages that contribute to the development of

granulomas in CD, while they involve luminal penetrations of polymorphonuclear cells that give rise to crypt abscess with loss of goblet cell in UC (79). Clinically, patients with Crohn's disease present with abdominal pain and prolonged diarrhea without a gross manifestation of blood. The transmural nature of the disease is associated with the narrowing of the gut lumen and the development of fibrotic strictures. CD may also give rise to sinus tracts that expand to form tunnels connecting epithelial lined organs known as fistulas (79, 83, 84). On the other hand, symptoms associated with UC include bloody diarrhea and gradual loss of the peristaltic function of the colon without the development of fibrosis and strictures. Unlike the patchy inflammation in CD that spares the rectum, inflammation in UC patients is initiated in the rectal region that may exhibit blood upon examination. In both forms of IBD, patients may also develop systemic symptoms such as fatigue, fever, and weight loss. In addition to the GI tract, CD and UC patients share several extra-intestinal manifestations that may involve the joints, skin, liver, eyes, lungs along with other organ systems (79, 82 -85).

2. Epidemiology

Despite the substantial progress in the understanding of the pathogenesis of IBD, the burden of this disease is continuously expanding on a global scale (88). Population-based studies describe a bimodal age distribution for IBD with a peak age of onset occurring between 15 to 30 years and another peak period extending from 50 to 70 years (78, 83). A second demographic factor that slightly differs among IBD groups is sex. It has been reported that the incidence of ulcerative colitis is higher in males, while Crohn's disease occurs more frequently in females; however, this gender-based difference is almost

negligible in both groups (78, 83). Moreover, epidemiological studies have shown that North America, northern Europe, and the United Kingdom represent regions of high prevalence for ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease with an estimated average range of 100 to 200 cases per 10^5 individuals (82, 89). The disease incidence was described to follow a pattern of a north-to-south gradient with areas of South America, Southeast Asia, Africa, and the Middle East accounting for lower incidence rates (83, 89). This gap between the two latitudes has been narrowing with the rise in the incidence of IBD in developing countries of historically low rates (86, 89). The observed variation in the rates of IBD was attributed partially to environmental factors aside from the underlying diverse genetic backgrounds of the world population and interpreted as a possible result of the different extents of industrialization, migration to other geographical regions, and westernization of lifestyle such as changes in the diet and smoking (78, 83, 89). The link between diet and IBD is inconclusive, but some data indicated that the higher ingestion of food additives and fatty acids and the decreased intake of vitamin D appear to contribute to IBD (81, 78, 90). Given that vitamin D is involved in the regulation of the mucosal immune system, the increased risk of IBD in northern areas might be, to a certain degree, related to the less sunlight exposure of residents there (81, 83, 91). In the case of cigarette smoking, its effect has been consistently proven to be discordant between the two forms of IBD (78, 89). While smoking is associated with increased risk of developing CD, it seems to play a protective role against UC (78, 90). These observations support the unique pathophysiology of each type of IBD (78). Furthermore, an inverse relationship was postulated to exist between the incidence of IBD and the degree of sanitation (81). This correlation was given credence by the hygiene hypothesis which highlights that excessive sanitation can limit the

early exposure to diverse microbial agents and impair the fundamental education of the immune system predisposing subjects to immune-mediated diseases later in life (89). The markedly increased risk of both forms of IBD in higher socioeconomic groups was relatively linked to the generally favorable housing sanitary conditions, the better access to health care, and the repeated exposure to antibiotics in early life (78, 81). For example, children living in overcrowded poor families have a higher propensity for infection with different environmental agents and thus develop a more-balanced gut microbiota that reduces their risk of acquiring IBD in comparison to children raised in spacious conditions with minimal sharing of belongings (78, 81). Overall, comprehensive epidemiological findings could potentially provide a means for evaluating the relationship between environmental exposures and IBD.

3. Genetic Factors in IBD

Advances in IBD genetics have provided a substantial amount of evidence to a role for genetic factors in the susceptibility to IBD. The strongest evidence for such a contributory role is indicated by twin studies. These studies have shown that monozygotic twins tend to develop the same type of IBD more commonly than dizygotic twins do (78). They have also pointed out that the concordance rate for CD is substantially higher than that for UC, more explicitly with 30 to 35% in CD compared to 10 to 15% in UC, suggesting a greater contribution of genetic factor in CD than in UC (79, 87, 92). Moreover, family studies have shown that first degree relatives of IBD patients are around 3 to 20 times more prone to developing IBD than relatives of unaffected families (92 -94). Furthermore, it was reported that families with IBD affected members have concordance for the developed disease type

in 75 to 80% of the cases (78, 82, 95). In other words, all affected individuals in the aforementioned families solely develop either CD or UC, while in less common cases, both types of IBD are exhibited among different family members. Collectively, these observations indicate that a genetically complex non-Mendelian pattern of inheritance is associated with IBD risk (78, 79, 92).

To date, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have allowed the identification of over 200 distinct susceptibility loci for IBD (92, 96). Comparative analysis of these genetic associations between the two types of IBD revealed that many of these genes are shared between CD and UC, while some are associated exclusively with one IBD type (96, 99). A number of observations have shown that genetic variants that alter innate immune responses are found to confer CD risk, while genes affecting the adaptive immune system are implicated in both CD and UC (82, 96).

a. Innate Immune Pathways in IBD Genetics

i. Defects in NOD2 Pathway

Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain 2 (NOD2) mutations are key pathogenic variants that confer increased susceptibility to Crohn's disease (81, 82, 92, 96). NOD2 gene, also recognized as caspase activation and recruitment domain 15 (CARD15), was identified in the first IBD susceptibility (IBD1) locus of chromosome 16 (78, 79). This gene encodes for a cytosolic pattern recognition receptor, NOD2, that belongs to the NODlike receptor (NLR) family (78, 79, 81, 82). The NOD2 protein is expressed in the cytosol of intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) and phagocytes, and allows response to pathogenic bacteria in the gastrointestinal tract (78, 79, 86, 92, 96). It is also expressed by Paneth cells

at which it stimulates secretion of antimicrobial defensins (78, 86). This protein responds to a bacterial peptidoglycan component, the muramyl dipeptide (MPD), which is found in both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Then it gets stimulated to activate the nuclear factor kappa B (NF- kB) signaling pathway, which in turn facilitates the production of inflammatory mediators and the clearance of bacteria (78, 82, 87, 96, 100 -102). CDassociated NOD2 variants result in loss of its functional outcomes (96). Despite the decreased NOD2 associated activation of the NF- kB pathway that is assumed to cause reduced inflammation, several explanations have been raised in support of the involvement of NOD2 mutations in the pathogenesis of Chron's disease (78). One hypothesis suggests that the absence of NOD2 expression may result in persistent survival of intracellular bacteria and, subsequently, a chronic inflammatory response (78, 86). Its defective expression in IECs may also lead to a loss of barrier function due to decreased NOD2related innate responses that allow bacterial proliferation (78, 79). Another theory suggests that the inflammatory responses observed in CD may arise from upregulated adaptive immune processes that come in compensation to the aberrant innate immunity (78). A third hypothesis proses that altered NOD2 functions impair the conditioning of antigenpresenting cells, which normally regulate T cell responses, resulting in a failed maintenance of intestinal homeostasis (78, 79).

ii. Defects in Autophagy

Autophagy is a cell-autonomous innate homeostatic process that contributes to the clearance of intracellular pathogens as protection against their growth in host cells, besides

its role in the recycling of cytoplasmic organelles (82, 87, 96, 103, 104). Loss-of-function genetic variants in the Autophagy Related 16-like 1 (ATG16L1) and the more recently described ones in the Immunity-Related GTPase M (IRGM) genes that are involved in autophagy have been associated with increased risk for Crohn's disease (81, 86, 87, 96, 105). ATG16L1 is ubiquitously expressed in various cells of the innate and adaptive immunity, involving epithelial, dendritic, T and B cells; yet, most impairments in its autophagic function have been focused only in intestinal tissues owing to the vast microbial weight in the gut (82, 86, 87). Defects associated with ATG16L1 mutations include reduced pathogen clearance and abnormal Paneth cells properties such as atypical granule size and distribution and restricted antimicrobial peptide production (87, 96). Evidence shows that NOD2 and ATG16L1 pathways are integrated and disease-associated (81, 87, 96). Under normal conditions, the activation of NOD2 activates autophagy in an ATG16L1-dependent manner, while in Crohn's diseases, genetic defects in both pathways promote impaired immune activities related to the pathogen clearance, cell-signaling regulation, and adaptive system communication (81, 87, 96).

b. Adaptive Immune Pathways in IBD Genetics

IBD gene variants regulating adaptive proinflammatory and immunoregulatory pathways have been identified in both CD and UC (82, 96). One of the significant genetic variant associations reported in both forms of IBD is in the gene encoding the IL-23 receptor (82, 92, 96, 106). A key component in this association is mediated through the involvement of IL-23 in the generation of Th17 cells that are characterized by their production of the proinflammatory IL-17 cytokine. In fact, genomic regions containing components of the

IL-23 signaling pathways, namely IL-12B which is a common subunit shared by IL-12 and IL-23, JAK2 signaling molecule, and STAT3 transcription factor, showed association with IBD, thereby highlighting a strong implication for this pathway in the pathogenesis of IBD (82, 96). At the same time, studies have also provided evidence for the presence of a protective IL-23R variant against the risk of IBD; carriers of this variant exhibit a decreased response to IL-23 and reduced levels of circulating Th17 cells (96, 107). In parallel to the upregulated expression of the proinflammatory Th17/IL-23 pathway-related genetic loci in IBD, loss of function mutations in the anti-inflammatory IL-10 pathway also represent a rare IBD-implicated locus involved in the very early onset of the disease (92, 96, 108, 109).

4. The Gastrointestinal Mucosal Immune System

The gastrointestinal epithelium is a tube-shaped structure lined by a monolayer of tightly connected columnar epithelial cells that form a mechanical barrier to the external environment. At the basolateral surface of the epithelium immediately lies the lamina propria, which is a highly vascular layer of loose connective tissue composed of a dense network of blood vessels, lymphatic capillaries, a range of immune cells, and secondary lymphoid tissues (110). The intestinal lumen harbors the largest microbial community in the body, approximately containing 10¹⁴ organisms (78, 81, 110). Many of these microbes are growing in the lumen as commensals referred to as the gut microbiota, while a very small number of microbes might be pathogenic (110, 111). Given the constant exposure of the mucosal immune system to a high density of luminal microflora, the host and the microbiota have coevolved mechanisms of mutual benefit with maintenance of intestinal homeostasis (96, 111). Thus, beyond their role in nutrition and energy metabolism,

commensal organisms are also involved in the development and the maturation of the intestinal immune system (81, 96, 112). This host-microbiome interaction allows for the proper conditioning of immune cells that display unique characteristics within intestinal tissues. A failure in the establishment of a symbiotic relationship of tolerance can lead to a chronic destructive immune response that may promote the development of IBD in the context of underlying genetic defects (78, 113).

Among the cells exhibiting a unique phenotype within the intestine are the resident macrophages. In a healthy gut mucosa, resident macrophages produce attenuated levels of proinflammatory cytokines but show enhanced phagocytic and bactericidal activities in response to potential microbial ligands compared to circulating macrophages (78, 81, 86, 87, 114). As a mechanism for controlling excessive inflammatory responses, less than 10% of resident macrophages in the intestinal lamina propria express the triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1 (TREM-1), which is a cell surface molecule that potently stimulates neutrophil, monocyte, and macrophage-mediated inflammatory response by inducing proinflammatory cytokines secretion (78). In addition, resident macrophages also inhibit inflammation by secreting anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-10 (96). These combined local properties promote pathogenic microbial clearance with a minimal tissue injury (96).

Another type of cell that plays a central role in maintaining the intestinal homeostasis is the intestinal dendritic cells (DCs). These cells function as important monitors of microenvironment as they express the full array of TLR and NLR which allows them to distinguish between commensals and pathogens, thereby inducing tolerance or inciting a proinflammatory response, respectively (81, 87, 89). Under normal

circumstances, DCs sample Ags, exhibit an immature phenotype and silence T cell responses to control tolerance towards commensals. During such response, DCs promote naïve T cells differentiation into regulatory CD4⁺ T (T_{reg}) cells instead of effector Th1 or Th2 cells (81, 115). With the presence of potentially proinflammatory pathogens, DCs mature to develop an activated phenotype and initiate immunity. Mucosal DCs also contribute to the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis through modulating the interaction between innate and adaptive immunity (81, 116). For example, in a healthy state, the crosstalk between epithelial cells and DCs drives the differentiation of anti-inflammatory T_{reg} cells and promotes tolerance. Through this mechanism, intestinal epithelial cells release the vitamin A metabolite retinoic acid and the cytokines thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) inducing DCs to foster T_{reg} cell differentiation (81, 87, 117, 118). A failure of such interaction could give rise to pathologic intestinal inflammation (87).

In this context, for health to be maintained, the gut depends on a functional epithelial barrier, an innate, and an adaptive immune system to defend the host against pathogens.

a. Intact Epithelial Barrier and Innate Immunity

The epithelial barrier comprises the first line of defense of the mucosal immune system (119). It provides three major ways to prevent microbial invasion into intestinal tissues (111). First, it is coated by a pre-epithelial mucus layer in which microbes get embedded to limit their ability to access the epithelium (110, 89). Second, the continuous single layer of
epithelial cells physically impedes the penetration of luminal microbes by the selectively permeable tight junctions and kills pathogens in the lumen by the secretion of protective factors into the mucus layer (96, 110, 111). Third, beneath the epithelial layer, plasma cells in the lamina propria secrete IgA that gets transported to the apical epithelial cell surface to neutralize pathogens in the lumen (89, 111). Together, these active functions of the epithelial barrier are essentials for the maintenance of a healthy intestinal environment (79).

i. Role of Epithelial Cells in Innate Immunity of a Healthy Gut

The intestinal epithelium is in constant contact with the microbiome in the lumen and the immune cells in the underlying connective tissue. Besides forming a physical barrier through attaching in tight junctions, IECs maintain intestinal homeostasis by regulating innate and adaptive immune responses (86, 87). Recent studies have shown that IECs express TLRs and NLRs and activate signaling cascades that trigger immune responses to pathogens while limiting inflammatory responses to commensal bacteria (79, 86, 111, 120). In addition to the columnar IECs, the epithelial barrier includes specialized cells that are interspersed along the crypt-villus axis and play different roles in immune defense. These highly specialized enterocyte populations are namely the goblet, Paneth, and microfold (M) cells. Goblet cells are responsible for the formation of a viscous mucus layer that provides protection through preventing microbes from contacting the epithelial cell lining (82). The epithelium also contains Paneth cells that contribute to the innate immune defense through the secretion of potent antimicrobial peptides known as defensins (89, 121). The defensins are peptides with amphipathic properties that allow them to insert into and lyse microbial membranes resulting in a lethal effect on microbes (89, 111). In the colon, defensins are

produced by absorptive epithelial cells. Moreover, neutrophils release defensins as part of their antimicrobial effector mechanisms. M cells are also important components of the epithelium. They overlie lymphoid tissues and function as a conduit sampling Ags (whole microbes and soluble Ags) to APCs found in the Peyer's patches of the small intestine and secondary lymphoid organs of the colon (89).

ii. Role of Innate Lymphoid Cells (ILCs) in a Healthy Gut

If luminal microorganisms were able to cross the epithelial barrier, they would get in direct contact with components of the mucosal innate immune system that is populated with cells poised to defend the gut against invading microbes. Dendritic cells, macrophages, neutrophils, natural killer cells, and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) are crucial cellular components of the innate immune system that provide an initial response during infection or inflammation.

Innate lymphoid cells are a distinct population of lymphoid cells that are derived from the common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) that gives rise to lymphocytes and NK cells. These cells have lymphoid morphology but do not express antigen-specific T or B cell receptors (BCR or TCR) (80, 111). The ILCs are subdivided into three major subsets based on their lineage-specific expression of transcription factors and their production of distinct cytokine profiles. The subsets include ILC1, ILC2, and ILC3 that are respectively analogous to Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells producing an array of effector cytokines that are similar to those of the CD4 T helper cells (111). ILC1 require T-bet, a common transcription factor of Th1 cells, for their development and function, and they secrete IFN- γ

following activation for protection against intracellular microbial pathogens (122). In analogy to Th2, the second subset of cells shares the transcription factor GATA-3 and produces IL-5 and IL-13 for defense against helminths and the development of allergic inflammation (111). The third group of ILCs is subdivided into natural cytotoxicity receptor (NCR)⁺ ILC3s that produce IL-22 and NCR⁻ ILC3s that secrete both IL-22 and IL-17 serving as the innate counterpart for Th17 cells (80). The third subset requires RORyt as a transcription factor. It is involved in the initiation of immune responses against extracellular bacteria and fungi as well as in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis (80, 123, 124). All the innate lymphoid cells are always resident in the epithelial barrier tissues at the interface between the environment and the associated lymphoid tissues (122). This enables them to promptly react against invading pathogens, providing a first-line of immunological defense before having this role assumed by the more specific effector T cells (111). While ILCs have an important function in the regulation of intestinal homeostasis, constant stimulation of these cells can result in major inflammation and tissue damage (122).

b. <u>Adaptive Immunity in the GI Tract</u>

Adaptive immunity is primarily comprised of B and T lymphocytes, which mediate the specific humoral and cellular immunity, respectively. In the gut, adaptive immune responses are initiated in gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT) and the mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs), which function as inductive sites for the mucosal responses (96, 111). M cells in the intestinal mucosal continuously monitor luminal content and directly

transport antigens and microbes without processing them to GALTs where they are picked up by APCs. At the same time, dendritic cells in the lamina propria trap antigens either by projecting long processes between epithelial cells into the lumen or by directly picking up invading microbes that cross the epithelial barrier (86, 89, 111, 125). These activated dendritic cells process protein Ags from microbes and migrate to the MLN via afferent lymphatic vessels. In the GALTs and the MLNs, DCs present the foreign Ags to naïve T cells and promote their differentiation into effector and regulatory T cells (81). Differentiation of naive B cells into IgA secreting plasma cells also occurs at these sites through their interaction with activated effector T follicular helper (Tfh) cells (111). After their differentiation, effector lymphocytes home back to the lamina propria that functions as an effector site of the adaptive immune system (86).

5. Defective Mucosal Immunity in IBD

A vast body of literature outline roles for both defective mucosal barrier and dysfunctional intestinal immune system to luminal antigens in the pathogenesis of IBD.

a. Defective Intestinal Barrier Function

A dysregulated epithelial barrier represents a key component in IBD pathogenesis (81). Defects in the mucosal barrier include increased intestinal permeability, altered intestinal mucus, and defective antimicrobial peptide production (96, 126).

i. Intestinal Permeability

IBD is associated with increased intestinal epithelial lining permeability whereby a leaky gut barrier could facilitate the access of luminal antigens to the underlying mucosal tissues resulting in constant activation of the mucosal immune system (78, 81, 127). Abnormal intestinal permeability has been described in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis (81, 89, 128). This has also been found in some healthy first-degree relatives of patients with IBD suggesting that the increased barrier permeability could be the primary defect involved in the initiation of inflammation and the predisposition IBD (78, 81, 86, 89, 129 – 131). The effect of a leaky barrier was shown in animal studies with the observation of increased tendency for the development of severe inflammation in areas of the intestine that lie beneath the disrupted locations (78, 79).

ii. Mucus Production

Goblet cell secreted gel-forming mucins constitute the loose mucus layer overlying the surface of the intestinal epithelium. In the small intestine, muc2 forms the main constituent of the mucus layer that is populated by luminal commensal microbes. In both forms of IBD, defects in the mucus production have been reported (132). Studies on MUC2^{-/-} mice have reported the development of colitis, which demonstrates the contribution of mucus in providing protection against microbial invasion and intestinal inflammation (81, 133).

iii. Antimicrobial Peptide Production

One of the main classes of antimicrobial peptides secreted from Paneth cells is defensins. These peptides can be classified into α and β defensins. While β defensins are ubiquitously distributed on the luminal surface of both the small and the large intestine of the gastrointestinal tract, α defensins are only expressed in the small intestine (89). Some observations have shown a decreased expression of β defensins in colonic Crohn's disease patients (81, 134). In comparison, the expression of Paneth cell α defensins was reduced in patients with ileal Crohn's disease (81, 86, 135). These combined data among others suggest an association of Paneth cell deficiency with an increased risk of the development of Crohn's disease (86, 96).

b. <u>Innate Immune Dysregulation in IBD</u>

IBD is characterized by excessive infiltration and immunoregulatory defects in various cellular components of the mucosal innate immune responses that are mediated by classic immune cells and nonimmune cells.

i. Role of Epithelial Cells in IBD

A disruption in the intestinal epithelial cell innate immune mechanisms has been found to contribute to IBD pathogenesis. One reported defect in IBD patients is the altered expression of TLRs on IECs. In a healthy state, IECs tend to constitutively express TLR3 and TLR5 and very scarcely express TLR4 (89). In the case of active Crohn's disease, the expression of TLR3 was observed to be significantly reduced (89). TLR5 is known to sense flagellin from invading bacteria. Due to its basolateral expression on IECs, TLR5 signaling is normally inactivated (96). During intestinal tissue injury, bacterial flagellin gains access to TLR5, stimulating the receptor to release proinflammatory mediators (87). CBir1

flagellin is a colitogenic antigen of intestinal luminal bacterial flora (136). In relation to IBD, seroreactivity to CBir1 bacterial flagellin was detected in around 50% of Crohn's disease patients (87, 136). At the same time, an upregulated expression of TLR4 was documented in both forms of IBD. Another IECs defect that is relevant to IBD pathogenesis is their abnormal antigen-presenting function that contributes to T-cell immunoregulatory responses (81, 96). IECS normally induce anergy in CD4⁺ T cells and stimulate nonspecific CD8⁺ T suppressor cells in *in vitro* systems (81, 89, 137). Conversely, IBD derived IECs acquire an activated phenotype with expression of costimulatory molecules and show a defective ability to stimulate CD8⁺ T suppressor cells (81, 89).

ii. Involvement of Neutrophils and Macrophages in IBD

Neutrophils are the first type of leukocytes to home from the blood into sites of infection or tissue injury. Accordingly, the infiltration of the gut mucosa with neutrophils that occurs in response to chemokines produced by tissue-resident macrophages accounts for one of the earliest signs of intestinal inflammation (81, 111). Neutrophils play a key role in inflammatory processes contributing to IBD pathogenesis through a variety of mechanisms (78, 81). In one way, they release antimicrobial peptides and reactive oxygen species that further promote tissue destruction. They also secrete chemokines and multiples proinflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), IL-1, IL-6, and IL-8, to recruit and activate macrophages that are derived from circulating monocytes and thereby perpetuate inflammation (78, 81, 138, 139). The recruited macrophages, unlike

resident macrophages, express TREM1 and release a broad array of proinflammatory mediators that also aggravate inflammation (86). An increased number of these macrophages was seen in the intestinal mucosa of patients with active IBD (140). These cells amplify inflammatory innate immune responses through the secretion of TNF-α, IL-1, IL-6, and IL12 and IL-18 (81, 140).

iii. Role of Dendritic Cells

In people with IBD, dendritic cells exhibit a defective antigen-presenting activity. As a consequence of a markedly reduced release of TSLP cytokines by IECs, DCs become improperly conditioned in Crohn's disease patients (81). Animal and *in vitro* studies show that these cells stimulate naïve T cell differentiation into effector Th1 and Th17 cells in response to commensal microbiota, which indicates a loss of tolerance towards commensals (89). These studies correlate with the increased frequency of activated DCs observed in the inflamed gut of patients with active IBD (89). Moreover, DCs in Crohn's disease upregulate their expression of chemokine receptors that mediate their migration and retention in the inflamed mucosa (81).

iv. Role of ILCs in IBD

A role for innate lymphoid cells in the pathogenesis of IBD was recently identified (81). The pathogenic function of ILCs is orchestrated by their IBD-relevant cytokines (81). IL-17 and IFN- γ secreting ILCs have been mainly associated with IBD (96). Increased production of IL-23 induced IL-17 cytokines in ILC3s was first described in mouse models of colitis

before the identification of ILCs in the gut of patients with IBD (81, 82, 141). In a complementary manner, genes linked to the ILC3 function were detected in ILCs isolated from IBD patients (141). Similarly, an increased frequency of ILC1 cells in the intestine of Crohn's disease patients was determined by various studies (122, 142). Moreover, humanized mice treated with the Dextran sodium sulfate (DSS), colitis-inducing agent, showed increased levels of IFN-γ-producing ILC1 in inflamed lesions of their intestines (122). In evidence for the involvement of ILC2s in IBD exacerbation, ILC2s secreted IL13 cytokines were reported to contribute to intestinal fibrotic lesions in CD patients (81). Overall, the intestinal accumulation of ILCs and the combination of their secreted cytokines suggest a contributory role for these cells in IBD.

c. Adaptive Immune Dysregulation in IBD

Intestinal homeostasis is maintained through a balance between proinflammatory and antiinflammatory signals. A failure to maintain this balance results in intestinal inflammation that can happen due to an insufficient Treg cell function in the face of an excessive effector cell response (79, 87). In IBD, this balance is disturbed with evidence supporting that Crohn's disease is characterized by an excessive Th1 and Th17 response, while Ulcerative colitis is associated with an excessive atypical Th2 phenotype (81, 86).

i. Effector T-cell Abnormalities in Crohn's Disease

Crohn's disease was previously designated as a Th1 condition due to the biased production of cytokines associated with Th1 cells (79, 81, 82). Following the identification of IL-17 secreting Th17 cells and their implication in intestinal inflammation, the disease was

redefined as a mix of Th1 and Th17 profiles (81, 82). The Th1 phenotype of CD is exemplified by several colitis mouse models and human IBD investigations. The administration of 2,4,6-Trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid (TNBS), a chemically induced experimental colitis model, into mice is associated with a Th1-mediated mucosal inflammation that is characterized by an inclination towards the increased production of IL-12 and IFN-y. At the histopathological level, TNBS gives rise to a transmural inflammation in the bowel wall with marked inflammatory cell infiltration (79, 143). The manifestations observed in TBNS colitis closely resemble the histopathological features of human CD (79). Human specimen research provided further evidence that Th1 cells are important mediators of inflammation in CD. As one example, an *ex vivo* study showed that IL-12 was overproduced by macrophages isolated from the mucosa of CD patients, while these cytokines secreted in reduced amounts by macrophage from UC patients, compared with those of healthy subjects (79, 144). CD4⁺ T cells isolated from lesions of patients with CD also exhibited increased amounts of other proinflammatory mediators such as IFN- γ cytokines, and activated STAT4 and T-bet transcription factors in other studies (78, 96, 145). Recent IBD research has focused on IL-17-secreting Th17 cells as key factors in the disease pathogenesis. These cells are characterized by their production of IL-17 under the effect of IL-23 among other inflammatory mediators. A number of studies found immense Th17 cells infiltration in the mucosa and increased IL-17 expression in the intestinal mucosa and the serum of IBD patients compared to healthy controls (80, 81, 146, 147). These findings were higher in CD patients than in UC patients (147). In addition to IL-17, other Th17-derived cytokines were also identified at elevated levels in the gut of patients

with both forms of IBD (80, 96, 148, 149). Providing profound support for the role of th17 cells in the progression of IBD are experiments that highlight the importance of IL-23 in the induction of colitis. This can be exemplified in studies carried out on mice with mutations in the IL-23 receptor that result in reduced risk of colitis, suggesting that IL-23 is a key driver for the development of intestinal inflammation in murine models of colitis (86, 96, 150).

ii. Effector T-cell Abnormalities in Ulcerative Colitis

Unlike the Th1 condition associated with CD, ulcerative colitis exhibits a Th2-mediated immune response marked by an elevated production of Th2 cytokine profile. Although there is no proof for an enhanced expression of IL-4, the typical Th2 cytokine, in UC, sizeable amount of data from mouse colitis and human IBD studies support that mucosal inflammation in UC is mediated by Th2 processes. The administration of oxazolone, a chemically induced colitis model, promotes a Th2 response accompanied by markedly elevated IL-13 and IL-5 production (79). It was recently shown that IL-13-producing natural-killer T (NKT) cells contribute to the intestinal inflammation observed in the oxazolone-induced colitis whereby the depletion of these cells or the blockade of IL-13 strikingly ameliorates the condition (79). Histopathologic examinations of oxazoloneinduced colitis indicate that this Th2-cell-mediated model mimics human UC and induces a relatively superficial mucosal inflammation characterized by epithelial cell loss and colonic infiltration by neutrophils and lymphocytes (79). Similar to oxazolone-induced colitis cytokine patterns, lamina propria cells derived from UC patients showed increased secretions of IL-13 and IL-5 cytokines (96). Additional evidence for the presence of Th2

phenotype in UC is the finding of activated humoral immune responses manifested by the production of autoantibodies in this form of IBD. This indication is in accordance with the dependence of the B cell-mediated immune responses on their activation by Th2 cells to a greater extent than Th1 cells (96). Among the observed autoantibodies is the atypical perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (pANCA) that is prevalent in the sera of UC patients at a range from 50 to 90% (79, 81, 96). These patients also exhibit an antibody response against a putative colonic autoantigen tentatively recognized as tropomyosin (88, 90, 105). Moreover, examinations of the produced immunoglobulin subclass in UC patients again demonstrate a bias toward the Th2 immune response with the expansive of IgG1 and IgG4, which are Th2 related (79).

iii. Defective T-cell-mediated Regulation in IBD

Given that Tregs perform a critical role in maintaining tolerance towards intestinal commensal organisms and controlling the development of severe inflammations, prompts the notion that an underlying defect in oral tolerance and in the suppressor function of Tregs can be involved in the pathogenesis of IBD. Such association was reflected in an *in vitro* assay that compared the difference between the response of T cells isolated from IBD patients and healthy controls when culture with their own mucosal microflora. In the study, only the T cells of IBD patients induced an immune response against their own mucosal antigens and showed an increased proliferation and cytokine production in culture, indicating a loss of tolerance towards commensals in the mucosa (79, 96, 151). *In vivo* studies also support this association as they show increased susceptibility to IBD in models of aberrant Treg cell function. For example, intestinal inflammation was observed in IL-10

knockout mice and in those with impaired Treg related TGF- β signaling (79, 80, 152, 153). Additionally, there is also evidence that Tregs can reverse the development of intestinal inflammation. This was shown in a study conducted on immunodeficient mice in which colitis induced by the administration of naïve T cells lacking Tregs was prevented after the introduction of CD4⁺CD25⁺ Tregs (78, 80, 154, 155).

6. Association of EBV with IBD

Over the past years, a wide range of pathogens, including bacteria, parasites, and viruses, have been implicated in the pathogenesis of IBD. The infection of genetically susceptible hosts with these agents is proposed to activate immunopathologic mechanisms that eventually result in chronic inflammation (34, 156). Given that EBV is ubiquitous in the general population and that its reactivation from latency can occur at any site where B cells reside, a number of studies have repeatedly considered the possible association of EBV infection with IBD; however, it remains unclear whether the virus contributes to the pathogenesis or the exacerbation of the disease (35, 36, 157 -161). As a first step in exploring the potential role of EBV in IBD, Wakefield et al. (157) examined the prevalence of EBV in colonic specimens of IBD patients using polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The study reported more frequent numbers of EBV-infected cells in UC and, to a lesser extent in CD samples, compared to control tissues obtained from patients with non-inflammatory diseases. These results were replicated by several subsequent studies that took further measures to elucidate the correlation between EBV infection and the development of IBD (36, 158 -160). In an attempt to provide evidence of EBV infection in precise locations of

the colonic mucosa, Yanai et al. (158) performed in situ hybridization for EBV-encoded RNA 1 (EBER-1) as a marker of latent infection. The authors documented a preferential localization of EBER-1-positive cells to areas of inflamed mucosa compared to areas of non-inflammatory activity in the colonic specimens of both forms of the disease reflecting a possible contribution of EBV infection to the local inflammation observed in IBD. Furthermore, this group also reported that the EBER-1 positivity was localized to nonepithelial cells in IBD tissues, a finding that aligned with other relevant studies (36, 159). In this context, based on in situ hybridization morphological data, Spieker and Herbst indicated that all EBER-positive cells were lymphocytes and specified a predominance of B cells (36). The work of these researchers brought further distinction between UC and CD in terms of EBV distribution and gene expression. They documented that the more frequent EBER-positive cells in ulcerative colitis accumulated in a transmural pattern in sub- and intraepithelial layers of the colonic specimens and suggested that this intra-mucosal expansion of EBV-infected cells might be associated with the locally impaired antiviral immunity that aggravated the inflammatory processes in IBD (36, 161). Moreover, Spieker and Herbst used EBER (1 and 2) and BamHI-Z leftward frame number 1 (BZLF1) markers to detect the presence of EBV antigens associated with latent and lytic infection, respectively. Expression of BZLF1 was detected only in cases of ulcerative colitis in that study along with EBER positivity, which signified that both active viral replication and latent EBV infection of lymphocytes contribute to the high viral levels in UC. Knowing that in immunocompetent hosts, EBV-infected cells escape detection by cytotoxic T cells due to the limited latent gene expression, the occurrence of active EBV replication might indicate an altered immune responsiveness to this virus in UC patients. In this regard, one

possible explanation has been attributed to the predominant Th2 lymphocyte profile in UC that produce cytokines known to stimulate the growth of EBV transformed B cell and to the EBV viral IL-10 homologue that inhibits the production of Th1 and NK cell cytokines (35, 36, 157, 159, 162). Overall, these findings raise the possibility for a role of EBV infection in the perpetuation of UC associated inflammation (35, 36, 159). Yet, no clinical correlates were addressed in these studies, and only a small number of references in the literature were found on the clinical relevance of EBV colonic infection in IBD (162 - 165). One cross-sectional study assessed the relation between EBV prevalence in colonic lesions of Chinese IBD patients and the clinical disease activity (162). Investigators determined the clinical activity of UC and CD through the Mayo Clinic score and Crohn's disease activity index, respectively. They showed that the EBV load increased as the clinical activity of the disease aggravated, indicating a directly proportional correction between the two variables. EBV infection was also shown to result in increased clinical complications in IBD patients, especially in those being treated with immunosuppressive drugs as described in few case reports (164, 165). Despite all of these observations, the definitive involvement of EBV in IBD cannot be inferred, and different features of this relation remain to be elucidated.

7. Treatment

Classical treatment of IBD involves the intensive administration of immunomodulators and biologics, individually or in combination, coupled with surgery that is often specified as a last resort. One example of current therapy involving a combination of the immunosuppressive drug azathioprine together with infliximab, which is an anti-tumor necrosis factor (TNF) agent, was shown to be effective in maintaining disease remission for

both forms of IBD (80). Progress in the understanding of the factors involved in IBD pathogenesis continues to provide a roadmap for the development of new targeted treatment approaches to this disease. Among the emerging therapies are those that target cytokines relevant to the inflammatory cascade of IBD. Given that Th1 and Th17 cell responses are important mediators of inflammation in Crohn's disease, inhibition of their respective cytokines was foreseen as a possible promising method. In this regard, neutralizing monoclonal antibodies against cytokines or their receptors were employed. It was documented that antibodies specific for TNF effectively treated Crohn's disease case secondary to their apoptotic action on Th1 effector cells (79). The use of antibodies against the proinflammatory IL-12 and IL-23 cytokines that promote the differentiation and maintenance of Th1 and Th17 cells was also proven to attenuate colitis severity in mouse models (80). However, the relevance of blocking IL-17 cytokine in the treatment of intestinal inflammation is still disputed as conflicting results were observed in different experimental models of colitis (80, 166). In the case of UC, it has been proposed that using antibodies against the overly produced Th2 cytokines, such as IL-13 specific antibodies, might possibly yield a positive therapeutic effect on this disease (79). Another potential strategy for IBD treatment involves blocking the cell-signaling pathways that are associated with the perpetuated activation of NF- κ B in IBD patients (78). One suggested approach to achieve this is through the use of proteasome inhibitors that prevent the degradation of the inhibitory kappa B (IkB) protein and consequently block the activation of the NF-kB pathway (167). An additional target for the rapeutic intervention is the $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin that is expressed on the surface of lymphocytes. Antibodies targeting this integrin block the

homing of lymphocytes to the intestinal mucosa in an effort to reduce the excessive inflammation (79). Moreover, a promising option that is increasingly being explored in animal and human studies is restoring the immune tolerance by recomposing the commensal microflora in the gut (78, 168). This is performed by the introduction of nonpathogenic enteric or genetically engineered bacteria in the inflamed mucosa in order to reconstitute the gut microbiota and induce the activity of regulatory cells (79). Considering that predisposing genetic variants contribute to the pathogenesis of IBD, gene therapy might possibly present a curative approach whereby the defective genes are replaced. Recent preclinical studies for intestinal gene transfer demonstrate the feasibility of this approach (143, 169). With the constant drive to gain further insight into the pathogenesis of this multifactorial disease, new therapeutic opportunities for targeting the inflammatory processes in a tailored manner will come to light.

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. Mice

Female C57BL/6J mice between six to eight weeks old were used in the study. These mice were obtained from the Animal Care Facility at the American University of Beirut (AUB), after approval of the experimental protocols by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the university, and treated in accordance with the institutional guidelines.

B. Induction of Acute DSS Colitis in C57BL/6J Mice

Various animal models have been instrumental in the understanding of the complex mechanisms underlying the development and pathogenesis of IBD. Among the array of chemical incitants of experimental colitis, dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) model is commonly adopted because it provides results immediately and controllably in a relatively simple and reproducible manner. This chemical is a sulfated polysaccharide employed in mice to permit the development of intestinal inflammation with features representative of human IBD, particularly UC, secondary to its toxic effect to colonic epithelium (170 -172). The approach to establishing acute colitis is based on feeding mice for an average of 7 successive days with DSS dissolved in drinking water. Prior to assessing whether EBV DNA is associated with increased severity of colitis in mice, it was essential to investigate the possible execution of DSS-induced colitis in C57BL/6J mice and to optimize the model

for application in future experiments. To this end, a total of twenty-five C57BL/6J mice were used. These mice were equally divided into five groups, each containing five mice. Four mouse groups were orally administered 0.5%, 1%, 1.5% or 2.5% DSS (molecular weight 40kDa; Chondrex, Redmond, WA) in drinking water for 7 days. The fifth group served as a control and received normal sterile water that was not supplemented with DSS. All groups were also given sterile water, the vehicle, by rectal gavage on day 3 to account for the route of DNA administration in the experiment assessing the effect of the nucleic acid as described in section C below. Per group, water bottles were filled with 100 ml of normal or DSS water, and these were replaced with freshly prepared solutions every 2 days (170), while rectal administrations were performed on sevoflurane-anesthetized mice using a 3.5 French catheter and consisted of a volume of 100µl. The clinical course of each mouse was monitored on a daily basis and data pertaining to their body weight, stool consistency, and fecal blood was collected and used to calculate the disease activity index (DAI) as per the scoring method previously established by Cooper et al. (173) and described in section D below. After the experimental period, mice were sacrificed by cardiac puncture following anesthesia with sevoflurane and their colons were collected for total length measurement. The scheme and timeline of the experiment are shown in Figure 1.



Clinical assessment of colitis on daily basis

Figure 1: Experimental setup and timeline of dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) concentration selection for the C57BL/6J mouse acute colitis model. DSS was dissolved in sterile drinking water at a concentration of 0.5%, 1%, 1.5%, and 2.5% and given respectively to mice of groups 2, 3, 4, and 5 from day 0 to 7. On the other hand, mice of group 1 served as a control and received sterile drinking water instead of being challenged with DSS. On day 3, mice were rectally administered sterile water. All mice (n = 5 per group) were weighed and evaluated for clinical symptoms on a daily basis throughout the experimental period. Mice were sacrificed on day 7 for collection of biological samples.

C. Treatment of Colitic Mice with EBV DNA

To assess the effect of EBV DNA on the severity of colitis in mice, a total of forty-six mice

were obtained and distributed into four groups. Group one included nine mice and served as

a negative control whereby mice received 100µl of sterile water (the DNA diluent) by rectal gavage on day 3 to control for any inflammatory response that might result from the method of DNA administration and had no DSS added to their sterilized drinking water throughout the experimental period. Acute colitis was induced by oral administration of 1.5% (w/v) DSS in autoclaved drinking water ad libitum from day 0 to 7 in the second group of fourteen mice that were also rectally given 100µl of sterile water on day 3. The optimal concentration of DSS was determined based on the evaluation of clinical observations in the DSS assessment experiment described in section B. In group three, the fourteen mice were treated with 1.5% DSS in the same manner as in group two and rectally received EDV DNA (Vircell, Granada, Spain) as a dose of 288 x 10³ DNA copies in 100µl of sterile water on day 3. The EBV DNA copy number was chosen after considering the 144×10^3 copies of DNA that induced the highest levels of IL-17A following its systemic injection in mice in a previous study conducted by our group and then doubling the concentration in an optimization experiment to account for any DNA degradation by the vast proportion of microbial flora in the gut owing to rectal administered (11). Moreover, for comparison purposes, the fourth group that included nine mice received EBV DNA by rectal gavage, together with oral intake of drinking water from day 0 without being treated with DSS. The DSS feeding and rectal administration were performed in a similar manner as in the previous section. During the experimental period, all mice were evaluated on a daily basis for weight loss, stool consistency, and presence of blood in stool in assessment of the DAI. On day 7, mice were sacrificed by cardiac puncture after sedation with sevoflurane and their colons were excised. The full length of each mouse colon, expected to

become shorter with increased severity of colitis, was measured. Then, a fragment from the colon distal end was fixed in 10% formaldehyde for future histological injury assessment of hematoxylin and eosin stained sections. The remaining colon portions were placed in individually labeled cryovials containing 1ml of freezing media (90% fetal bovine serum + 10% dimethyl sulfoxide) and stored in liquid nitrogen for further analysis of immune cell composition using flow cytometry at a later time. The schematic diagram of the experimental design is shown in Figure 2.



Clinical assessment of colitis on daily basis

Figure 2: Experimental design used to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA on colitis severity in C57BL/6J mice. C57BL/6J mice were assigned to one of four groups. In groups 2 and 3 (n = 14), acute colitis was induced by administration of 1.5% dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) in drinking water for 7 days. On the third day of the experimental period, group 2 was rectally administered sterile water, while group 3 was rectally administered EBV DNA in sterile water. The other two groups (n = 9) were included as

controls. Both groups fed on DSS-free sterile water, but group 4 received EBV DNA in sterile water on day 3 by rectal gavage. All mouse groups were clinically assessed for colitis activity on daily basis and then sacrificed on day 7 for collection of biological samples.

D. Clinical Evaluation of Colitis

Clinical activity of colitis was utilized as a surrogate marker to assess the degree of disease severity. In essence, oral administration of DSS to mice via drinking water induces severe colitis that is characterized by weight loss, watery diarrhea, and fecal bleeding. These clinical criteria were summarized as the disease activity index (DAI) in accordance to Cooper's grading system of DSS-induced colitis model (173). In this manner, all mice were examined and scored for changes in body weight, stool consistency, and occult/gross fecal blood positivity from day 0 and continuing on daily basis to determine the DAI. Then, the DAI was calculated as the combined score of these three criteria which ranges from 0 to 12. The method of scoring is shown in table 1.

1. Weight Loss

The body weight of each mouse was measured from day 0 prior to the onset of the experiment till the sacrifice day and the weight loss was calculated as the percentage difference between the weight on any specific day (X) and the baseline weight on day 0 according to the following formula:% Weight change =

 $\Big|\frac{(\text{weight on day 0 - weight on day X})}{\text{weight of day 0}}\Big| \, x100.$

The resulting percentages were scored from 0 to 4 as follows: $0: \ge 0\%$ weight change, 1: 1-5% weight loss, 2: 6-10% weight loss, 3: 11-15% weight loss, 4: >15% weight loss. Generally, any weight loss of 20 to 25% relative to the initial weight was considered a humane endpoint in compliance with the IACUC guidelines.

2. Stool Consistency

Fresh stool samples were collected daily from all mice and evaluated for consistency. This was performed by handling each mouse properly by the scruff of the neck and turning it around on the ventral surface to collect feces in individual Eppendorf tubes as it defecates. Using a pair of forceps or a disposable pipette tip, obtained stool samples were then pressed down to determine their firmness. Well-formed solid pellets were assigned a score of 0, loose stools that readily become pasty and semi-formed upon pressing down were given a score of 2, and watery stool that gets stuck around the anus and also on the base of the tail in advanced stages received a score of 4. On the sacrifice day, stool samples were collected from the colon and assessed accordingly.

3. Blood in Stools

The presence of blood in the stools was assessed every day following stool collection using a benzidine guaiac method for fecal occult blood detection as previously described by Hughes with some modifications (174). This type of benzidine test allows for the identification of blood in stools that is not readily visible upon gross inspection through the oxidation of this chromogen in acid solution and the production of a blue color. The oxidation reaction that takes place is catalyzed by the iron (Fe) contained in hemoglobin

that acts as the peroxidase enzyme facilitating the transfer of an oxygen atom from hydrogen peroxide to benzidine. After recording benzidine test results, the status of fecal blood was then scored with 0 for negative occult blood results, 2 for positive hemoccult results, and 4 for stool with gross blood signs that also became visible on the mouse anal region in advanced stages of colitis.

a. Benzidine Fecal Occult Blood Test Procedure

A fresh solution of saturated benzidine in glacial acetic acid was prepared daily before each run of tests since its shelf-life is 8 hours (5g benzidine + 50 ml glacial acetic acid). Then, 1 ml of this solution was transferred to 2 ml Eppendorf tubes each containing a pea-sized piece of the collected stools per mouse per data point and vigorously mixed using an applicator stick to obtain an emulsion. For the positive control, a drop of blood was placed in an Eppendorf tube instead of stools, while the negative control tube was left empty before the addition of saturated benzidine. Subsequently, one or two drops of each feces solution were slowly added to a glass test tube two-thirds filled with 3% hydrogen peroxide and observed for color change against a white background. As the drop starts to descend downwards in the test tube, it forms a cloud that remains white in the case of a normal negative sample but becomes slightly or completely blue-green with a positive sample.

	Clinical parameter								
Score	Weight loss (%)	Stool consistency	Blood in feces						
0	None	Normal	None						
1	1-5	-	-						
2	6-10	Loose stools	Occult bleeding						
3	11-15	-	-						
4	>15	Diarrhea	Gross bleeding						

Table 1: Disease activity index (DAI) scoring system used for evaluation of dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) colitis in C57BL/6J mice (173, 175).

E. Colon Macroscopic Assessment

Another indirect metric of the severity of colitis is the overall colonic length that tends to shorten with the growing inflammation (176, 177). At the end of the clinical monitoring period, euthanasia was performed on all mice by cardiac puncture after inhaled sevoflurane anesthesia and followed by a midline laparotomy incision for the entire collection of colon samples from the ileocecal junction to the distal end of the rectum. Each isolated colon was then straightened without stretching over a ruler and its full length was measured with the exclusion of the cecum. Subsequently, every colon tissue was then cleaned by repetitive flushing with 1x ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) using a 25G needle affixed to a 10ml syringe until its fecal content was cleared. Eventually, the cleaned colons were cut into small fragments to be further processed for histological damage grading and immune cell profile analysis at a future stage.

F. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out using the GraphPad Prism software. The differences in the disease activity index scores were evaluated using the Mann-Whitney U test. The unpaired t-test was performed to assess the statistical significance of body weight changes and colon length measurements. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

A. Selection of Dextran Sodium Sulfate (DSS) Concentration for the C57BL/6J Mouse Acute Colitis Model

Prior to examining the potential role for EBV DNA in the exacerbation of colitis severity in mice, it was necessary to assess the functionality of a murine model of colitis induced by DSS in C57BL/6J strain and to standardize the optimal DSS dosage at which disease development occurs while leaving a margin to observe an additive effect of EBV DNA on its activity in subsequent aims. In this experiment, 0.5%, 1%, 1.5%, and 2.5% of DSS were administered in drinking water for induction of colitis in C57BL/6J mice and comparison between these concentrations was carried out on the basis of DAI and colon length assessments that served as indicators of colitis severity.

At this stage, the DAI, which is a composite measure of weight loss, stool consistency, and blood in stools, was determined daily to evaluate the clinical course of each group of C57BL/6J mice in response to different concentrations of DSS. In comparison to the control group that fed on normal drinking water, all DSS-treated groups presented increased DAI scores (Table 2, Figure 3). Mice subjected to 2.5% DSS showed a variability in increasing DAI scores during the first 3 days and then started to manifest significantly elevated scores compared to the control group from day 4 (average DAI of 2.6 in 2.5% DSS group vs 0.6 in control group, p = 0.0219) until the end of the experiment on day 7 (average DAI of 11 in 2.5% DSS group vs 1 in control group, p = 0.0106). In

contrast, the first significant rise in the average DAI score of mice treated with 1.5% DSS was observed on day 5 (DAI of 2.4 in 1.5% DSS group vs 0.6 in control group, p = 0.0219). Moreover in this group, the DAI score increased in a gradual and steady manner starting from day 2 and then continued to rise more dramatically from day 4, reaching an average DAI of 8.6 in 1.5% DSS group vs 1 in the control group (p = 0.0117) on day 7. In a similar way to the 2.5% treated mice, the average DAI score of the 1% DSS group fluctuated from day to day; however, no significant elevation in the score was observed before day 7 (4.2 in 1% DSS group vs 1 in control group, p = 0.0306). On the other hand, the time frame of the experiment did not allow for the development of diarrhea and any gross signs of blood in stools in the 0.5% DSS group which showed a slight and insignificant increase compared to the control group (p-value > 0.05). In fact, gross signs of rectal bleeding were only clearly manifested in the 1.5% and the 2.5% DSS treated groups, appearing one day earlier in the latter group than the 1.5% DSS group which presented rectal bleeding on day 7. Figure 4 is a representative of this gross rectal bleeding in the 1.5% DSS mouse group on day 7 of treatment. Collectively, these results indicate that the colitogenic potential of DSS and the clinical severity of the induced colitis, which is reflected by the DAI, are directly dependent on the administered concentration of DSS.

Another marker of disease severity is colon length shortening that commonly accompanies the development of DSS-induced acute colitis and serves as a macroscopic indicator of colonic inflammation (171). On day 7 of DSS administration, all mice were sacrificed and the length of their collected colons was measured. Macroscopic examination of the obtained colons revealed that the 1%, 1.5%, and 2.5% DSS-treated groups exhibited shorter colons than those of the normal water-fed control group; however, the decrease in

the colon length was only significant in the groups that received 1.5% or 2.5% DSS in drinking water (Figure 5). The average colon length was 6.6 cm in the control group. The 0.5% DSS group showed comparable measurements to the control group with an average colon length of 6.58 cm (p = 0.9441). The average colon length was 6.36 cm in the 1% DSS treated group (p = 0.4111), 5.46 cm in the 1.5% DSS treated group (p = 0.0009), and 5 cm in the 2.5% DSS treated group (p = 0.0001). Moreover, the average colon length in the 2.5% DSS was also markedly shorter than that of the 1.5% DSS treated group (p = 0.0016). These results indicate that a more prominent reduction in the colon length and thus further colonic inflammation is observed with increasing concentrations of DSS. These findings also indicate a positive correlation between the degree of colon length shortening and the DAI with reference to DSS-induced colitis in C57BL/J6 mice as previously reported (178 -180).

Overall, these results taken together show that C57BL/J6 mice can develop acute experimental colitis induced by DSS of a clinical severity and colonic inflammatory extent that correlate with the DSS concentration. In this regard, the progressive onset of colitis, together with the moderately intense severity of clinical symptoms, and the evident colonic shrinkage that were observed with 1.5% DSS treatment in this experiment, provided grounds for the selection of this concentration to investigate the additive effect of EBV DNA on the severity of colitis.



Figure 3: Disease activity index (DAI) scores in each group of C57BL/6J mice of the dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) concentration selection protocol. Mouse groups were orally administered 0.5%, 1%, 1.5%, or 2.5% DSS in drinking water from day 0 to 7 to induce acute colitis except for the control group which was fed on normal drinking water. On day 3, mice were rectally administered sterile water. The DAI was determined daily as a composite measure of the scores of body weight loss, stool consistency, and fecal blood. *indicates p-value <0.05 when compared to the control group on the same day.



Figure 4: Representative of gross rectal bleeding exhibited on day 7 by C57BL/6J mice treated with 1.5% dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) in drinking water.



Figure 5: Colon length measurements in each group of C57BL/6J mice after treatment with different concentrations of dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) in drinking water for 7 days for DSS concentration selection. Mouse groups were orally administered 0.5%, 1%, 1.5% or 2.5% DSS in drinking water from day 0 to 7 to induce acute colitis except for the control group which was fed on normal drinking water (n= 5 mice per group). On day 3, mice were rectally administered sterile water. On day 7, mice were sacrificed and their colon lengths were measured. *** p-value <0.001, compared to the control group.

Mouse group	Disease activity index									
	Day 0	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7		
Control (n = 5)	0.4 ± 0.89	0.2 ± 0.45	0.8 ± 0.84	0.8 ± 1.10	0.6 ± 0.89	0.6 ± 0.89	0 ± 0	1 ± 1.00		
0.5% DSS (n = 5)	$0.4\ \pm 0.89$	0.8 ± 0.45	0.6 ± 0.55	1.4 ± 0.89	0.6 ± 0.55	0.8 ± 0.84	1.6 ± 1.82	1.4 ± 2.19		
1% DSS (n = 5)	0.4 ± 0.89	1.2 ± 1.30	0.8 ± 0.84	0.6 ± 0.89	1.8 ± 1.64	2.6 ± 2.19	2.6 ± 2.79	4.2 ± 2.05		
1.5% DSS (n = 5)	0.4 ± 0.89	0 ± 0	0.6 ± 1.34	1 ± 1.00	1.4 ± 0.89	2.4 ± 0.55	6 ± 1.58	8.6 ± 1.82		
2.5% DSS (n = 5)	0 ± 0	0.4 ± 0.89	0.8 ± 1.3	0.4 ± 0.89	2.6 ± 0.89	6.6 ± 2.3	7.6 ± 1.95	11 ± 1.41		
Values are expressed as average DAI per group \pm standard deviation.										

Table 2: Average disease activity index (DAI) in each group of C57BL/6J mice of the dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) concentration selection protocol.

B. Effect of EBV DNA on Clinical Manifestations and Macroscopic Inflammatory Markers of Colitis in a Mouse Model of the Disease

After evaluating the colitogenic potential of the DSS-induced colitis in C57BL/6J mice and determining the optimal conditions that serve the objective of this study, the effect of EBV DNA on the severity of colitis was subsequently assessed according to clinical manifestations and macroscopic inflammatory markers. Herein, evaluation of body weight changes, DAI progression, and colon length shortening was carried out on the experimental and control groups of mice that were assigned for this aim.

The body weight of each mouse group was measured every day and expressed as a percent difference between its value on a particular day and that of day 0 to represent disease progression during the study period and to provide a measure for comparison that eliminates any significant initial weight difference between mouse groups (Figure 6).

Initially, all mouse groups showed weight gain until day 5. This pattern of weight gain continued till the end of the experiment in the normal and the EBV DNA control groups which exhibited an average weight gain of 2.6% and 4.9%, respectively. In contrast, DSS treatment resulted in a decrease in the body weight of affected mice starting from day 6 and reaching on day 7 an average of 2.8% weight loss in the group that fed on DSS alone and an average of 6.4% weight loss in the group that received EBV DNA in addition to DSS. Moreover, these groups manifested a significant weight loss relative to the control group after day six (DSS vs control p = 0.011, DSS plus EBV DNA vs control p = 0.0005); however, no significant difference in the weight loss between the two DSS-treated groups was observed throughout the experiment. Worth indicating is that the reduction in the body weight was noted with the initiation of fecal bleeding in the DSS-treated groups.

Similarly, the DAI of all mouse groups was scored on a daily basis to evaluate the severity of the clinical course of colitis disease. The DAI score was increased in the two DSS-administered groups compared to the normal water-fed group (Table 3, Figure 7). Initially, the DAI scores gradually increased in both groups after day 2; this increase became significantly higher than the normal control on day 5. At this time point, the average DAI score was 2.86 for the group that fed on DSS alone (p = 0.0013) and 3.50 for the group that received EBV DNA in addition to DSS (p = 0.0004), indicating that the latter group had a higher level of significance than the other DSS group with respect to the normal control. Following day 5, both groups exhibited a dramatically increased rise (p-value <0.0001) in their DAI scores which was associated with a significant worsening of the clinical signs of colitis disease. Toward the end of the experiment on day 7, a statistically significant difference (p = 0.0044) was obtained between these DSS-treated

groups with an average DAI score of 10.07 for the DSS and EBV DNA group but an average score of 8.50 for the DSS alone group. Moreover, the DAI scores of all but one mouse in the group that received EBV DNA in addition to DSS was 9 or higher, whereas half of the mice that received DSS alone had a DAI score of 9 or higher. As for the control groups, a low average DAI score of 0.78 and 1 was observed in the normal water and EBV DNA alone groups, respectively.

The severity of colitis in the IBD mouse model was also evaluated based on macroscopic examination of colon samples collected from each mouse group on day 7 for any colon length shortening, which is a marker of inflammation. Consistent with the DAI, the colon length was significantly shorter in both groups that received DSS compared to the normal water-fed control group; however, the greatest colon shortening was observed in the group that received EBV DNA in addition to DSS (average colon length in DSS alone group of 5.7 cm vs 6.6 cm in control group, p = 0.0003; DSS plus EBV DNA: 4.8 cm, p = 0.0001) (Figure 8). Moreover, there was also a significant reduction in the colon length comparing the DSS alone group and the DSS plus EBV DNA group (p = 0.0002). In particular, the majority of mice in the group that received EBV DNA in addition to DSS had a colon length of 5.3 cm or shorter, while most of the mice that received DSS alone had a colon length of 5.3 cm or longer.

Overall, the observation of a significantly higher DAI and more marked colon length shortening, together with an increased body weight loss in mice treated with EBV DNA in addition to DSS in comparison to mice treated with DSS alone indicates that EBV DNA exacerbates the clinical signs and colonic inflammation of colitis in the mouse model of the disease.



Figure 6: Average percent body weight change in control and experimental mouse groups used to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA on colitis severity in C57BL/6J mice. Mouse groups received either 1.5% DSS-containing or normal drinking water for 7 days. The two DSS-treated groups were then rectally administered sterile water or Epstein-Barr virus DNA in sterile water on day 3 (n = 14 mice per group). The two other normal drinking water-fed groups were included as controls and also received sterile water or EBV DNA by rectal gavage on day 3 (n = 9). Mouse body weight was evaluated daily and the percent body weight change was calculated per mouse per group compared to its initial weight on day 0. * p-value <0.05, *** p <0.001, compared to the control group on the respective day of measurement.


Figure 7: Disease activity index (DAI) scores in control and experimental mouse groups used to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA on colitis severity in C57BL/6J mice. Mouse groups received either 1.5% DSS-containing or normal drinking water for 7 days. The two DSS-treated groups were then rectally administered with sterile water or Epstein-Barr virus DNA in sterile water on day 3 (n = 14 mice per group). The two other normal drinking water-fed groups were included as controls and also received sterile water or EBV DNA by rectal gavage on day 3 (n = 9). The DAI was determined daily as a composite measure of the scores of body weight loss, stool consistency and fecal blood. **p-value <0.01, *** p <0.001, compared to the control group on the same day; ++ p <0.01, compared to the DSS group on the same day.



Figure 8: Colon length measurements in control and experimental mouse groups used to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA on colitis severity in C57BL/6J mice. Mouse groups received either 1.5% DSS-containing or normal drinking water for 7 days. The two DSS-treated groups were then rectally administered with sterile water or Epstein-Barr virus DNA in sterile water on day 3 (n = 14 mice per group). The two other normal drinking water-fed groups were included as controls and also received sterile water or EBV DNA by rectal gavage on day 3 (n = 9). After 7 days, mice were sacrificed and their colon lengths were measured. *** p <0.001, compared to the control group; +++ p <0.001, compared to the DSS group.

Mouse	Disease activity index							
group	Day 0	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7
Control (n = 9)	0.22 ± 0.67	0.11 ± 0.33	0.56 ± 0.73	0.44 ± 0.88	0.56 ± 0.88	0.33 ± 0.71	0.22 ± 0.67	0.78 ± 0.97
EBV DNA $(n = 9)$	0 ± 0	0.11 ± 0.33	0.56 ± 0.88	0.78 ± 0.83	0.22 ± 0.67	0 ± 0	0.78 ± 0.97	1 ± 1
DSS (n = 14)	0.14 ± 0.53	0 ± 0	0.36 ± 0.93	0.93 ± 1	1.29 ± 1.14	2.86 ± 1.99	5.57 ± 1.99	8.5 ± 1.34
DSS + EBV DNA (n = 14)	0.14 ± 0.53	0.86 ± 1.1	0.57 ± 1.02	1 ± 1.24	1.93 ± 1.86	3.5 ± 2.18	6.5 ± 2.38	10.07 ± 1.14
Values are expressed as average DAI per group \pm standard deviation.								

Table 3: Average disease activity index (DAI) in C57BL/6J mice used to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA on colitis severity.

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION

Epidemiological studies show that more than 90% of the world population is seropositive for EBV (8). Primary infection with this viral agent is usually characterized by asymptomatic or flu-like symptoms in children but may be associated with infectious mononucleosis among adults (181). In addition to causing IM, EBV constitutes a risk factor for the development of several malignancies, lymphoproliferative disorders, and most relevant to the present study, autoimmune diseases. Following the initial infection, the virus establishes latency in resting memory B cells with a potential of causing recurrent infections whereby viral DNA can be shed upon reactivation (182, 183). It has been established that unmethylated CpG DNA motifs, which are abundant in the EBV genome, induce immune-stimulatory pathways through Toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9) (184, 185). Moreover, studies have shown that the DNA of *Herpes simplex virus 1* (HSV-1), which belongs to the same family as EBV, promotes T helper type 1 (Th1) cell immune responses (185). Such observations previously led our group to assess whether the persistent EBV DNA is possibly capable of triggering pro-autoimmune responses in mice (11). The study revealed that intraperitoneal injection of mice with EBV DNA increases the production of interleukin 17A (IL-17A), which is a proinflammatory cytokine consistently linked with autoimmune pathways. Having observed these findings in mice that did not exhibit an autoimmune disease, our group next aimed to establish animal models of different types of inflammatory diseases and evaluate the association between EBV DNA and these diseases. In the study at hand, a murine model of acute colitis was employed.

Growing evidence confirms that reactivation of EBV from latency can occur at any mucosal site where B cells reside. Aside from the long-known associations of EBV with systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and multiple sclerosis, the latest research continues to demonstrate a possible implication of EBV in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease (34, 35, 36, 157-161). Several studies reported the detection of increased numbers of EBV-infected cells in colonic specimens from patients with IBD compared to samples obtained from healthy controls (35, 157, 158, 160). Evidence from other relevant studies also indicated a possible perpetuation of inflammation in UC patients as a result of active EBV replication in colonic lymphoid cells (36, 159). However, the definitive role of EBV in IBD remains unclear and warrants further investigation. In light of the above data, a recent study conducted by our group established a Drosophila melanogaster model system to discern the possible role that EBV DNA plays in IBD by examining markers of the cellular and humoral innate immune response in the fly gut (50). In this study, feeding flies DSS was the approach to induce localized inflammation in the gut secondary to the toxic effect of this chemical on intestinal epithelial cells; DSS compromises the epithelial barrier integrity resulting in the dissemination of intestinal content and subsequent activation of inflammatory responses (169-170). Upon assessment of results, enhanced levels of hemocytes, which resemble mammalian macrophages and promote inflammatory responses, were observed in the hindguts of flies receiving DSS then EBV DNA compared to the group feeding on DSS and EBV DNA at the same time and the group that fed on DSS alone, indicating that establishment of inflammation paves the way for EBV DNA to further augment the inflammatory cellular response. Moreover, at the humoral level, administration of EBV DNA after DSS resulted in increased expression of

the diptericin gene, a marker of activation of the Immune Deficiency (IMD) pathway in flies; this pathway is comparable to Tumor Necrosis Factor- α (TNF α) receptor signaling in mammalian systems (186). Our observations in flies suggest that EBV DNA participates in the exacerbation rather than the initiation of inflammatory processes of bowel diseases with autoimmune backgrounds. Having observed that EBV DNA could play such an exacerbatory role in the simple fly model, which are believed to lack adaptive immune responses, we intended to establish a similar model but in a higher system in which both innate and adaptive immune systems are involved. Hence, the aim of the present study was to determine the effect of EBV DNA on the severity of colitis in a murine model of the disease. The overall objective is to be able to use such a system to explore further questions pertaining to the role played by EBV DNA in inflammatory diseases.

Prior to investigating the possible involvement of EBV DNA in the exacerbated presentation of colitis, it was necessary to assess the functionality of DSS-induced colitis in C57BL/6J mice and to optimize the model in an effort to provide a margin for observing an additive effective of EBV DNA, should this occur. In rodents, oral administration of DSS via drinking water is a widely employed approach to induce a form of colonic mucosal inflammation that closely recapitulates several characteristics relevant to human UC, such as weight loss, diarrhea, blood in stool, colon shortening, and mucosal ulceration (175, 187). However, the effectiveness of DSS in inducing colitis and the severity of the clinical and histological course are influenced by numerous factors (171, 172, 188). These include the molecular weight, concentration, duration, frequency, and manufacturer of the administered DSS, as well as genetic factors such as the age, gender, and animal strain. Against this background and in search of a potential enhancement effect of EBV DNA on

colitis severity in the subsequent aim, the response of C57BL/6J mice, which are welldocumented to develop less severe colitis than C3H mice, to a range of low DSS concentrations was clinically and macroscopically examined for colon changes, while taking into account the other factors that affect DSS-induced pathology (189, 190). According to clinical manifestations, disease severity was evaluated daily in all mouse groups based on the disease activity index score, a combined score of body weight loss, stool consistency, and fecal blood parameters. Treatment with 2.5% DSS in drinking water resulted in the earliest and the highest increase in the DAI score among all other mouse groups. Moreover, mice fed on 2.5%, 1.5%, and 1% DSS showed statistically significant differences in their DAI scores in comparison to the normal water-fed group starting on days 4, 5, and 7, respectively. However, a slow and steady onset of colitis was only observed in the 1.5% DSS mouse group. A previously published protocol by Chassaing et al. (170) indicated that the attainment of a gradual onset of colitis by DSS in early experiments allows for reproducibility of results in future studies. The obtained results indicate that the colitogenic potential of DSS and the severity of the clinical symptoms in C57BL/6J mice with induced colitis are directly dependent on the concentration of the DSS treatment. These results agree with a previous study conducted by Nunes et al. (175) who administered different concentrations of DSS in C57BL/6J mice and showed that the clinical disease severity correlated with the increase in DSS concentration. Additional information on the severity of DSS-induced colitis is provided by the degree of colon shortening which is indicative of colonic inflammation. The obtained macroscopic findings from extracted colons of each mouse group indicate that more pronounced colon length reductions and thus further colonic inflammation occur with increasing DSS concentrations

in C57BL/6J mice, whereby mice treated with 2.5% DSS manifested the highest extent of colon shortening among the DSS-receiving groups. Moreover, treating C57BL/6J mice with DSS for a period of 7 days was only associated with significantly reduced colons in the groups receiving a concentration of 1.5% or 2.5% DSS in drinking water compared to the control group. In a study by Egger et al. (179), findings also indicated that the severity of colonic mucosal injury is dependent on the increased DSS concentrations. Likewise, the positive association between the elicited clinical disease activity and the macroscopic colon changes of DSS-induced colitis that we observed was also previously described by other studies (178 -180). Overall, the obtained results as a whole suggest the DSS treatment can trigger the development of acute colonic mucosal injury in C57BL/6J mice with a concentration-dependent clinical severity and colonic inflammatory outcome. Accordingly, the gradually progressing fashion of colitis development and the moderately intense clinical course, as well as the reduced colon length that was elicited in C57BL/6J mice treated with 1.5% DSS, provide evidence for selecting this concentration for assessing the involvement of EBV DNA in IBD exacerbation.

Having determined the optimal DSS concentration for the C57BL/6J mouse acute colitis model, we next aimed to assess the effect of EBV DNA on the severity of colitis, particularly in terms of clinical disease activity and macroscopic colon morphology. Therefore, clinical evaluation of body weight loss and disease activity index and macroscopic assessment of colon shortening were carried out on experimental and control groups of mice assigned for the addressed aim. Reduced body weight was only observed in mice treated with DSS. These groups exhibited a significant percentage of weight loss relative to the normal water-fed group, indicating a successful induction of colitis with

DSS. However, there was no significant difference in the weight loss between the DSS and the DSS plus EBV DNA mouse groups despite the more apparent decrease in the latter group. However, when scores of other factors were added to the calculations so as to determine the DAI, a more comprehensive representation of the clinical course severity was obtained. In line with the body weight change observations, the DAI score was only increased in the two DSS-treated groups. Moreover, mice receiving EBV DNA in addition to DSS exhibited a higher increase in their DAI score than mice receiving DSS alone starting from day 4, and this difference became statistically significant on the last day of the experiment, indicating that EBV DNA aggravates the clinical symptoms of colitis in the mouse model of the disease. Further support to the potential involvement of EBV DNA in the severity of colitis was provided by the obtained colon shortening results, whereby the most pronounced reduction in colon length was observed in the group receiving EBV DNA in addition to DSS. More importantly, this group showed significantly shorter colons than those of the group receiving DSS alone, indicating that EBV DNA potentially increases the severity of colonic inflammation in the mouse model of acute colitis.

Our results taken together indicate that EBV DNA plays a role in the exacerbation of colitis pathology by increasing the severity of the disease in a mouse model. This association requires further investigation to understand the underlying mechanisms by which EBV DNA contributes to disease progression. The disruption of the epithelial barrier and the uncontrolled immune dysregulation that characterize DSS colitis induction in mice shed light on possible predisposing conditions by which underlying damage provides a favorable environment for EBV DNA to instigate or aggravate IBD. Following primary infection in immunocompetent individuals, EBV persists for life in resting memory cells

and escapes cytotoxic T cell surveillance by limiting viral gene expression. Possibly, the absence of immune surveillance that is associated with impaired mucosal immunity and immunosuppressive therapy in IBD cases predisposes patients to reactivation of EBV infection resulting in increased mucosal inflammation and further disease perpetuation (35, 36, 164). Alternatively, minor mucosal damage in subjects with active EBV replication in their gastrointestinal tract may result in IBD due to the enhanced inflammation induced by the viral DNA. Assessment of the role played by EBV DNA in subjects with IBD is being investigated by our group.

In addition to the clinical data described in our model above, the effect of EBV DNA on colitis severity will also be assessed based on histological and immunological parameters. These investigations were halted due to the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic that began in 2019 and which necessitated a shutdown of non-essential laboratory activities during 2020. Colons collected on the sacrifice day from each mouse group were cut into small fragments and appropriately stored in preparation for histological injury assessment and immune cell profile analysis. The histological grading will be performed on H&E-stained colon sections and scored based on a system previously described by Mu et al. (187) and Xiao et al. (191) that accounts for the severity and depth of inflammation along with the damage in crypt architecture. Subsequently, as a means to identify the effect of EBV DNA on the immune status of the colitis mouse model, colonic lamina propria cells will be isolated from the stored colons and processed for flow cytometric determination of the immune cell composition according to a combination of surface markers, cytokines, and transcription factors.

In conclusion, our study suggests an association between EBV DNA and increased severity of colitis in a mouse model of IBD. Further research efforts are required to examine the mechanism by which EBV DNA aggravates the inflammatory process. A better understanding of the link between recurrent EBV infections and IBD exacerbation may have notable implications for preventive strategies and therapeutic interventions, such as screening for EBV infection before initiation of drug therapy in patients. In a previous study by our group, findings indicated that TLR3, 7, and 9 were involved in the increase of IL-17A in response to EBV DNA, whereby treatment of mice or mouse PBMCs with TLR inhibitors resulted in a significant reduction in IL-17A levels triggered by EBV DNA (49). Thus, TLR inhibitors may be useful as therapeutic agents in IBD patients. Moreover, adopting the DSS-induced colitis model in C57BL/6 mice for future studies will help investigate the different factors that affect the pathogenesis of colitis. One possible consideration would be to examine whether EBV DNA is associated with altered colonic microbiota composition in the colitis mouse model, given the long-studied role of gut microbiota changes in the pathogenesis of IBD. Furthermore, since EBV DNA triggered the IMD pathway in the fly model of gut inflammation and this pathway is comparable to the TNF α receptor signaling in mammals (50, 186), the present colitis mouse model would allow us to determine whether EBV DNA results in a similar response in mice. In the long run, it would be of great interest to examine whether our findings are applicable to humans who have IBD.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Sample J, Young L, Martin B, Chatman T, Kieff E, Rickinson A, et al. Epstein-Barr virus types 1 and 2 differ in their EBNA-3A, EBNA-3B, and EBNA-3C genes. J Virol. 1990 Sep 1;64(9):4084–92.

2. Grinde B. Herpesviruses: latency and reactivation – viral strategies and host response. J Oral Microbiol. 2013 Jan 1;5(1):22766.

3. Mackie PL. The classification of viruses infecting the respiratory tract. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2003 Jun 1;4(2):84–90.

4. Humans IWG on the E of CR to. EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS [Internet]. Biological Agents. International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2012 [cited 2020 May 20]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK304353/

5. Young LS, Yap LF, Murray PG. Epstein–Barr virus: more than 50 years old and still providing surprises. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016 Dec;16(12):789–802.

6. Epstein MA, Achong BG, Barr YM. VIRUS PARTICLES IN CULTURED LYMPHOBLASTS FROM BURKITT'S LYMPHOMA. Lancet Lond Engl. 1964 Mar 28;1(7335):702–3.

7. Cohen JI. Epstein-Barr virus infection. N Engl J Med. 2000 Aug 17;343(7):481–92.

8. Tzellos S, Farrell PJ. Epstein-Barr Virus Sequence Variation—Biology and Disease. Pathogens. 2012 Dec;1(2):156–74.

9. Epstein-Barr-Virus / Basic Research [Internet]. [cited 2020 May 20]. Available from: https://www.helmholtz-muenchen.de/agv/forschung/forschungsgebiete/epstein-barr-virus/index.html

10. The Broad Spectrum of Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) Disease on MedicineNet.com [Internet]. [cited 2020 May 20]. Available from: https://www.medicinenet.com/the_broad_spectrum_of_epsteinbarr_virus_disease/views.htm

11. Rahal EA, Hajjar H, Rajeh M, Yamout B, Abdelnoor AM. Epstein-Barr Virus and Human herpes virus 6 Type A DNA Enhance IL-17 Production in Mice. Viral Immunol. 2015 Jun;28(5):297–302.

12. Sullivan JL. Virology of Epstein-Barr virus. In: Hirsch MS, Edwards MS, editors. UpToDate [Internet]. Waltham (MA): UpToDate Inc; 2019 [cited 2019 Oct 14]. Available from: <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/virology-of-epstein-barr-virus</u>

13. Young LS, Rickinson AB. Epstein–Barr virus: 40 years on. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004 Oct;4(10):757–68.

14. Bajaj BG, Murakami M, Robertson ES. Molecular biology of EBV in relationship to AIDS-associated oncogenesis. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;133:141–62.

15. Nanbo A, Noda T, Ohba Y. Epstein–Barr Virus Acquires Its Final Envelope on Intracellular Compartments With Golgi Markers. Front Microbiol [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 May 20];9. Available from:

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00454/full

16. Thorley-Lawson DA, Edson CM. Polypeptides of the Epstein-Barr virus membrane antigen complex. J Virol. 1979 Nov 1;32(2):458–67.

17. Tanner J, Weis J, Fearon D, Whang Y, Kieff E. Epstein-barr virus gp350/220 binding to the B lymphocyte C3d receptor mediates adsorption, capping, and endocytosis. Cell. 1987 Jul 17;50(2):203–13.

18. Thompson MP, Kurzrock R. Epstein-Barr virus and cancer. Clin Cancer Res Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res. 2004 Feb 1;10(3):803–21.

19. Cheung A, Kieff E. Long internal direct repeat in Epstein-Barr virus DNA. J Virol. 1982 Oct;44(1):286–94.

20. Odumade OA, Hogquist KA, Balfour HH. Progress and Problems in Understanding and Managing Primary Epstein-Barr Virus Infections. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2011 Jan 1;24(1):193–209.

21. Niedobitek G, Meru N, Delecluse HJ. Epstein-Barr virus infection and human malignancies. Int J Exp Pathol. 2001 Jun;82(3):149–70.

22. Depper JM, Zvaifler NJ. Epstein-barr virus. Arthritis Rheum. 1981 Jun;24(6):755-61.

23. Santpere G, Darre F, Blanco S, Alcami A, Villoslada P, Mar Albà M, et al. Genomewide analysis of wild-type Epstein-Barr virus genomes derived from healthy individuals of the 1,000 Genomes Project. Genome Biol Evol. 2014 Apr;6(4):846–60.

24. Frappier L. The Epstein-Barr Virus EBNA1 Protein [Internet]. Vol. 2012, Scientifica. Hindawi; 2012 [cited 2020 May 20]. p. e438204. Available from: https://www.hindawi.com/journals/scientifica/2012/438204/

25. Duellman SJ, Thompson KL, Coon JJ, Burgess RR. Phosphorylation sites of Epstein– Barr virus EBNA1 regulate its function. J Gen Virol. 2009 Sep;90(Pt 9):2251–9.

26. Peng R, Gordadze AV, Pananá EMF, Wang F, Zong J, Hayward GS, et al. Sequence and Functional Analysis of EBNA-LP and EBNA2 Proteins from Nonhuman Primate Lymphocryptoviruses. J Virol. 2000 Jan 1;74(1):379–89.

27. Howe JG, Shu M-D. Epstein-Barr virus small RNA (EBER) genes: Unique transcription units that combine RNA polymerase II and III promoter elements. Cell. 1989 Jun 2;57(5):825–34.

28. Wang Z, Zhao Y, Zhang Y. Viral lncRNA: A regulatory molecule for controlling virus life cycle. Non-Coding RNA Res. 2017 Mar 1;2(1):38–44.

29. Hartung A, Makarewicz O, Egerer R, Karrasch M, Klink A, Sauerbrei A, et al. EBV miRNA expression profiles in different infection stages: A prospective cohort study. PLOS ONE. 2019 Feb 13;14(2):e0212027.

30. Zhang J, Huang T, Zhou Y, Cheng ASL, Yu J, To KF, et al. The oncogenic role of Epstein–Barr virus-encoded microRNAs in Epstein–Barr virus-associated gastric carcinoma. J Cell Mol Med. 2018;22(1):38–45.

31. Slots J, Saygun I, Sabeti M, Kubar A. Epstein–Barr virus in oral diseases. J Periodontal Res. 2006;41(4):235–44.

32. Bouvard V, Baan R, Straif K, Grosse Y, Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, et al. A review of human carcinogens--Part B: biological agents. Lancet Oncol. 2009 Apr;10(4):321–2.

33. Korsman SNJ, van Zyl GU, Nutt L, Andersson MI, Preiser W. Epstein-Barr virus. In: Korsman SNJ, van Zyl GU, Nutt L, Andersson MI, Preiser W, editors. Virology [Internet]. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 2012 [cited 2020 May 20]. p. 58–9. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780443073670000938

34. Hussein HM, Rahal EA. The role of viral infections in the development of autoimmune diseases. Crit Rev Microbiol. 2019 Jul 4;45(4):394–412.

35. Bertalot G, Villanacci V, Gramegna M, Orvieto E, Negrini R, Saleri A, et al. Evidence of Epstein-Barr virus infection in ulcerative colitis. Dig Liver Dis. 2001 Oct 1;33(7):551–8.

36. Spieker T, Herbst H. Distribution and Phenotype of Epstein-Barr Virus-Infected Cells in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Am J Pathol. 2000 Jul 1;157(1):51–7.

37. Sullivan JL. Clinical manifestations and treatment of Epstein-Barr virus infection. In: Hirsch MS, Kaplan SL, Mitty J, editors. UpToDate [Internet]. Waltham (MA): UpToDate Inc; 2019 [cited 2019 Oct 14]. Available from: <u>https://www-uptodate-</u>

 $\underline{com.ezproxy.aub.edu.lb/contents/clinical-manifestations-and-treatment-of-epstein-barr-virus-infection}$

38. Busch D, Hilswicht S, Schöb DS, von Trotha KT, Junge K, Gassler N, et al. Fulminant Epstein-Barr virus - infectious mononucleosis in an adult with liver failure, splenic rupture, and spontaneous esophageal bleeding with ensuing esophageal necrosis: a case report. J Med Case Reports. 2014 Feb 5;8(1):35.

39. Braz-Silva PH, Santos RTM, Schussel JL, Gallottini M. Oral hairy leukoplakia diagnosis by Epstein–Barr virus in situ hybridization in liquid-based cytology. Cytopathology. 2014;25(1):21–6.

40. Maeda E, Akahane M, Kiryu S, Kato N, Yoshikawa T, Hayashi N, et al. Spectrum of Epstein-Barr virus-related diseases: a pictorial review. Jpn J Radiol. 2009 Jan 1;27(1):4–19.

41. Jones JF, Shurin S, Abramowsky C, Tubbs RR, Sciotto CG, Wahl R, et al. T-cell lymphomas containing Epstein-Barr viral DNA in patients with chronic Epstein-Barr virus infections. N Engl J Med. 1988 Mar 24;318(12):733–41.

42. Evans AS, Rothfield NF, Niederman JC. Raised antibody titres to E.B. virus in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lancet. 1971;167–8.

43. Lünemann JD, Kamradt T, Martin R, Münz C. Epstein-Barr Virus: Environmental Trigger of Multiple Sclerosis? J Virol. 2007 Jul 1;81(13):6777–84.

44. Abbas AK, Lichtman AH, Pillai S. Cellular and Molecular Immunology E-Book. Elsevier Health Sciences; 2011. 557 p.

45. Fujinami RS, von Herrath MG, Christen U, Whitton JL. Molecular Mimicry, Bystander Activation, or Viral Persistence: Infections and Autoimmune Disease. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2006 Jan;19(1):80–94.

46. Jog NR, McClain MT, Heinlen LD, Gross T, Towner R, Guthridge JM, et al. Epstein Barr virus nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA-1) peptides recognized by adult multiple sclerosis patient sera induce neurologic symptoms in a murine model. J Autoimmun. 2020 Jan;106:102332.

47. Bar-Or A, Pender MP, Khanna R, Steinman L, Hartung H-P, Maniar T, et al. Epstein–Barr Virus in Multiple Sclerosis: Theory and Emerging Immunotherapies. Trends Mol Med. 2020 Mar;26(3):296–310.

48. Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Franciotta D, Magliozzi R, Reynolds R, Cinque P, et al. Dysregulated Epstein-Barr virus infection in the multiple sclerosis brain. J Exp Med. 2007 Nov 26;204(12):2899–912.

49. Salloum N, Hussein HM, Jammaz R, Jiche S, Uthman IW, Abdelnoor AM, et al. Epstein-Barr virus DNA modulates regulatory T-cell programming in addition to enhancing interleukin-17A production via Toll-like receptor 9. PLoS ONE [Internet]. 2018 Jul 11 [cited 2020 Jun 11];13(7). Available from:

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6040775/

50. Madi JR, Rahal E, American University of Beirut. Department of Experimental Pathology I and MicrobiologyF of M. Drosophila melanogaster as a model system to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr virus DNA on inflammatory gut diseases [Internet]. Available from:

http://aub.summon.serialssolutions.com/2.0.0/link/0/eLvHCXMwdV1LS8NAEB58gAcvPi oqVeYPROKm2WyPahp6UXpQ0FPZLLOlkCaSNMWf7-

 $w2rUX00odlH8PMfPMt3wBE4i4MfsWEhKt8M9CK85XS7EOW4tjIgRYm4XBo_eyJyXDybxn0fhHO3qrmNjmvndR5NvehYiVihSD9X32KofS35xqiN5Iffr0kJ3AcbpDa5_CHpVncPTc0dbn0Ka1HxcwLzQuqNBlNdNOoAB1g2xxw2hwLamMy4qNjodFrsxw_dsCK4ujz8bNpQwedV3jal63DaYvD1iVyC7Cr7rwbDnO2iV2nEvTg342en0aB7zdademmW5O9CUu4IChP10CynuTU2yUMsSwxUpFQqpQkshpaENlrqD35xLX_9j7cGjZq-nG39Stv7VvH_h-RA$

51. Masucci MG, Ernberg I. Epstein-Barr virus: adaptation to a life within the immune system. Trends Microbiol. 1994 Apr 1;2(4):125–30.

52. Thorley-Lawson DA, Duca KA, Shapiro M. Epstein-Barr virus: a paradigm for persistent infection – for real and in virtual reality. Trends Immunol. 2008 Apr 1;29(4):195–201.

53. Chesnokova LS, Hutt-Fletcher LM. Epstein-Barr virus infection mechanisms. Chin J Cancer. 2014 Nov;33(11):545–8.

54. Xiao J, Palefsky JM, Herrera R, Berline J, Tugizov SM. EBV BMRF-2 facilitates cellto-cell spread of virus within polarized oral epithelial cells. Virology. 2009 Jun 5;388(2):335–43.

55. Chesnokova LS, Nishimura SL, Hutt-Fletcher LM. Fusion of epithelial cells by Epstein–Barr virus proteins is triggered by binding of viral glycoproteins gHgL to integrins $\alpha\nu\beta6$ or $\alpha\nu\beta8$. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2009 Dec 1;106(48):20464–9.

56. Shannon-Lowe C, Rowe M. Epstein Barr virus entry; kissing and conjugation. Curr Opin Virol. 2014 Feb 1;4:78–84.

57. Hadinoto V, Shapiro M, Sun CC, Thorley-Lawson DA. The Dynamics of EBV Shedding Implicate a Central Role for Epithelial Cells in Amplifying Viral Output. PLoS Pathog [Internet]. 2009 Jul 3 [cited 2020 May 20];5(7). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2698984/ 58. Frangou P, Buettner M, Niedobitek G. Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) Infection in Epithelial Cells In Vivo: Rare Detection of EBV Replication in Tongue Mucosa but Not in Salivary Glands. J Infect Dis. 2005 Jan 15;191(2):238–42.

59. Cooper NR, Moore MD, Nemerow GR. Immunobiology of CR2, the B lymphocyte receptor for Epstein-Barr virus and the C3d complement fragment. Annu Rev Immunol. 1988;6:85–113.

60. Fingeroth JD, Weis JJ, Tedder TF, Strominger JL, Biro PA, Fearon DT. Epstein-Barr virus receptor of human B lymphocytes is the C3d receptor CR2. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1984 Jul 1;81(14):4510–4.

61. Wang X, Hutt-Fletcher LM. Epstein-Barr Virus Lacking Glycoprotein gp42 Can Bind to B Cells but Is Not Able To Infect. J Virol. 1998 Jan 1;72(1):158–63.

62. Miller N, Hutt-Fletcher LM. A monoclonal antibody to glycoprotein gp85 inhibits fusion but not attachment of Epstein-Barr virus. J Virol. 1988 Jul 1;62(7):2366–72.

63. Haddad RS, Hutt-Fletcher LM. Depletion of glycoprotein gp85 from virosomes made with Epstein-Barr virus proteins abolishes their ability to fuse with virus receptor-bearing cells. J Virol. 1989 Dec 1;63(12):4998–5005.

64. Heineman T, Gong M, Sample J, Kieff E. Identification of the Epstein-Barr virus gp85 gene. J Virol. 1988 Apr 1;62(4):1101–7.

65. Tsoukas CD, Lambris JD. Expression of EBV/C3d receptors on T cells: biological significance. Immunol Today. 1993 Feb 1;14(2):56–9.

66. Savard M, Bélanger C, Tardif M, Gourde P, Flamand L, Gosselin J. Infection of Primary Human Monocytes by Epstein-Barr Virus. J Virol. 2000 Mar 15;74(6):2612–9.

67. Thorley-Lawson DA. EBV Persistence—Introducing the Virus. In: Münz C, editor. Epstein Barr Virus Volume 1: One Herpes Virus: Many Diseases [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2015 [cited 2020 May 20]. p. 151–209. (Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-22822-8_8

68. Hadinoto V, Shapiro M, Greenough TC, Sullivan JL, Luzuriaga K, Thorley-Lawson DA. On the dynamics of acute EBV infection and the pathogenesis of infectious mononucleosis. Blood. 2008 Feb 1;111(3):1420–7.

69. Smatti MK, Al-Sadeq DW, Ali NH, Pintus G, Abou-Saleh H, Nasrallah GK. Epstein– Barr Virus Epidemiology, Serology, and Genetic Variability of LMP-1 Oncogene Among Healthy Population: An Update. Front Oncol [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 May 20];8. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2018.00211/full 70. Hochberg D, Souza T, Catalina M, Sullivan JL, Luzuriaga K, Thorley-Lawson DA. Acute Infection with Epstein-Barr Virus Targets and Overwhelms the Peripheral Memory B-Cell Compartment with Resting, Latently Infected Cells. J Virol. 2004 May 15;78(10):5194–204.

71. Thorley-Lawson DA, Allday MJ. The curious case of the tumour virus: 50 years of Burkitt's lymphoma. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2008 Dec;6(12):913–24.

72. Adams A. Replication of latent Epstein-Barr virus genomes in Raji cells. J Virol. 1987 May 1;61(5):1743–6.

73. Kirchmaier AL, Sugden B. Rep*: a Viral Element That Can Partially Replace the Origin of Plasmid DNA Synthesis of Epstein-Barr Virus. J Virol. 1998 Jun 1;72(6):4657–66.

74. Ambinder RF, Lin L. Mononucleosis in the Laboratory. J Infect Dis. 2005 Nov 1;192(9):1503–4.

75. Furnari FB, Adams MD, Pagano JS. Regulation of the Epstein-Barr virus DNA polymerase gene. J Virol. 1992 May 1;66(5):2837–45.

76. Sixbey JW, Pagano JS. Epstein-Barr virus transformation of human B lymphocytes despite inhibition of viral polymerase. J Virol. 1985 Jan 1;53(1):299–301.

77. Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, et al., editors. Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis [Internet]. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2007 [cited 2020 May 20]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK47376/

78. Hanauer SB. Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Epidemiology, Pathogenesis, and Therapeutic Opportunities. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2006 Jan 1;12(suppl_1):S3–9.

79. Bouma G, Strober W. The immunological and genetic basis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003 Jul;3(7):521–33.

80. Lee SH, Kwon J eun, Cho M-L. Immunological pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Intest Res. 2018 Jan;16(1):26–42.

81. de Souza HSP, Fiocchi C. Immunopathogenesis of IBD: current state of the art. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016 Jan;13(1):13–27.

82. Cho JH. The genetics and immunopathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008 Jun;8(6):458–66.

83. Peppercorn MA, Cheifetz AS. Definitions, epidemiology, and risk factors for inflammatory bowel disease in adults. In: Rutgeerts P, Robson KM, editors. UpToDate

[Internet]. Waltham (MA): UpToDate Inc; 2019 [cited 2019 Nov 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/definitions-epidemiology-and-risk-factors-for-inflammatory-bowel-disease-in-adults</u>

84. Peppercorn MA, Kane SV. Clinical manifestations, diagnosis, and prognosis of Crohn's disease in adults. In: Rutgeerts P, Robson KM, editors. UpToDate [Internet]. Waltham (MA): UpToDate Inc; 2019 [cited 2019 Nov 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/clinical-manifestations-diagnosis-and-prognosis-of-crohns-disease-in-adults</u>

85. Peppercorn MA, Kane SV. Clinical manifestations, diagnosis, and prognosis of ulcerative colitis in adults. In: Rutgeerts P, Robson KM, editors. UpToDate [Internet]. Waltham (MA): UpToDate Inc; 2019 [cited 2019 Nov 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/clinical-manifestations-diagnosis-and-prognosis-of-ulcerative-colitis-in-adults</u>

86. Xavier RJ, Podolsky DK. Unravelling the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2007 Jul;448(7152):427–34.

87. Khor B, Gardet A, Xavier RJ. Genetics and pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2011 Jun;474(7351):307–17.

88. M'koma AE. Inflammatory Bowel Disease: An Expanding Global Health Problem: Clin Med Insights Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2013 Aug 14 [cited 2020 May 21]; Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.4137/CGast.S12731

89. Baumgart DC, Carding SR. Inflammatory bowel disease: cause and immunobiology. The Lancet. 2007 May 12;369(9573):1627–40.

90. Krishnan A, Korzenik JR. Inflammatory bowel disease and environmental influences. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2002 Mar;31(1):21–39.

91. Nerich V, Jantchou P, Boutron-Ruault M-C, Monnet E, Weill A, Vanbockstael V, et al. Low exposure to sunlight is a risk factor for Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;33(8):940–5.

92. Snapper SB, McGovern DPB. Genetic factors in inflammatory bowel disease. In: Rutgeerts P, Robson KM, editors. UpToDate [Internet]. Waltham (MA): UpToDate Inc; 2019 [cited 2019 Oct 14]. Available from: <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/genetic-factors-in-inflammatory-bowel-disease</u>

93. Monsén U, Broström O, Nordenvall B, Sörstad J, Hellers G. Prevalence of Inflammatory Bowel Disease among Relatives of Patients with Ulcerative Colitis. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1987 Jan 1;22(2):214–8. 94. Satsangi J, Grootscholten C, Holt H, Jewell DP. Clinical patterns of familial inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 1996 May 1;38(5):738–41.

95. Binder V. Genetic Epidemiology in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Dig Dis. 1998;16(6):351–5.

96. Snapper SB, Abraham C. Immune and microbial mechanisms in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. In: Rutgeerts P, Stiehm ER, editors. UpToDate [Internet]. Waltham (MA): UpToDate Inc; 2019 [cited 2019 Nov 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/immune-and-microbial-mechanisms-in-the-pathogenesis-of-inflammatory-bowel-disease</u>

97. Jostins L, Ripke S, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, McGovern DP, Hui KY, et al. Hostmicrobe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2012 Nov;491(7422):119–24.

98. Liu JZ, van Sommeren S, Huang H, Ng SC, Alberts R, Takahashi A, et al. Association analyses identify 38 susceptibility loci for inflammatory bowel disease and highlight shared genetic risk across populations. Nat Genet. 2015 Sep;47(9):979–86.

99. Franke A, McGovern DPB, Barrett JC, Wang K, Radford-Smith GL, Ahmad T, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis increases to 71 the number of confirmed Crohn's disease susceptibility loci. Nat Genet. 2010 Dec;42(12):1118–25.

100. Girardin SE, Travassos LH, Hervé M, Blanot D, Boneca IG, Philpott DJ, et al. Peptidoglycan Molecular Requirements Allowing Detection by Nod1 and Nod2. J Biol Chem. 2003 Oct 24;278(43):41702–8.

101. Abraham C, Medzhitov R. Interactions Between the Host Innate Immune System and Microbes in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterology. 2011 May 1;140(6):1729–37.

102. Walters TD, Silverberg MS. Genetics of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Current Status and Future Directions. Can J Gastroenterol. 2006;20(10):633–9.

103. Rioux JD, Xavier RJ, Taylor KD, Silverberg MS, Goyette P, Huett A, et al. Genomewide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for Crohn disease and implicates autophagy in disease pathogenesis. Nat Genet. 2007 May;39(5):596–604.

104. Hampe J, Franke A, Rosenstiel P, Till A, Teuber M, Huse K, et al. A genome-wide association scan of nonsynonymous SNPs identifies a susceptibility variant for Crohn disease in ATG16L1. Nat Genet. 2007 Feb;39(2):207–11.

105. Parkes M, Barrett JC, Prescott NJ, Tremelling M, Anderson CA, Fisher SA, et al. Sequence variants in the autophagy gene IRGM and multiple other replicating loci contribute to Crohn's disease susceptibility. Nat Genet. 2007 Jul;39(7):830–2.

106. Duerr RH, Taylor KD, Brant SR, Rioux JD, Silverberg MS, Daly MJ, et al. A Genome-Wide Association Study Identifies IL23R as an Inflammatory Bowel Disease Gene. Science. 2006 Dec 1;314(5804):1461–3.

107. Di Meglio P, Di Cesare A, Laggner U, Chu C-C, Napolitano L, Villanova F, et al. The IL23R R381Q Gene Variant Protects against Immune-Mediated Diseases by Impairing IL-23-Induced Th17 Effector Response in Humans. PLoS ONE [Internet]. 2011 Feb 22 [cited 2020 May 20];6(2). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3043090/

108. Glocker E-O, Kotlarz D, Boztug K, Gertz EM, Schäffer AA, Noyan F, et al. Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Mutations Affecting the Interleukin-10 Receptor. N Engl J Med. 2009 Nov 19;361(21):2033–45.

109. Kotlarz D, Beier R, Murugan D, Diestelhorst J, Jensen O, Boztug K, et al. Loss of Interleukin-10 Signaling and Infantile Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Implications for Diagnosis and Therapy. Gastroenterology. 2012 Aug 1;143(2):347–55.

110. Rios-Arce ND, Collins FL, Schepper JD, Steury MD, Raehtz S, Mallin H, et al. Epithelial Barrier Function in Gut-Bone Signaling. In: McCabe LR, Parameswaran N, editors. Understanding the Gut-Bone Signaling Axis: Mechanisms and Therapeutic Implications [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2017 [cited 2020 May 20]. p. 151–83. (Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-66653-2_8

111. Cellular and Molecular Immunology - 9th Edition [Internet]. [cited 2020 May 20]. Available from: https://www.elsevier.com/books/cellular-and-molecularimmunology/abbas/978-0-323-47978-3

112. Lathrop SK, Bloom SM, Rao SM, Nutsch K, Lio C-W, Santacruz N, et al. Peripheral education of the immune system by colonic commensal microbiota. Nature. 2011 Oct;478(7368):250–4.

113. Colletti T. IBD--recognition, diagnosis, therapeutics. JAAPA Off J Am Acad Physician Assist. 2004 May;17(5):16–8, 21–4.

114. Smythies LE, Sellers M, Clements RH, Mosteller-Barnum M, Meng G, Benjamin WH, et al. Human intestinal macrophages display profound inflammatory anergy despite avid phagocytic and bacteriocidal activity. J Clin Invest. 2005 Jan 3;115(1):66–75.

115. Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature. 1998 Mar;392(6673):245–52.

116. Rossi M, Young JW. Human Dendritic Cells: Potent Antigen-Presenting Cells at the Crossroads of Innate and Adaptive Immunity. J Immunol. 2005 Aug 1;175(3):1373–81.

117. Iwata M, Hirakiyama A, Eshima Y, Kagechika H, Kato C, Song S-Y. Retinoic Acid Imprints Gut-Homing Specificity on T Cells. Immunity. 2004 Oct 1;21(4):527–38.

118. Mucida D, Park Y, Kim G, Turovskaya O, Scott I, Kronenberg M, et al. Reciprocal TH17 and Regulatory T Cell Differentiation Mediated by Retinoic Acid. Science. 2007 Jul 13;317(5835):256–60.

119. Baumgart DC, Dignass AU. Intestinal barrier function. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2002 Nov;5(6):685–694.

120. Cario E, Rosenberg IM, Brandwein SL, Beck PL, Reinecker H-C, Podolsky DK. Lipopolysaccharide Activates Distinct Signaling Pathways in Intestinal Epithelial Cell Lines Expressing Toll-Like Receptors. J Immunol. 2000 Jan 15;164(2):966–72.

121. Elphick DA, Mahida YR. Paneth cells: their role in innate immunity and inflammatory disease. Gut. 2005 Dec 1;54(12):1802–9.

122. Colonna M, Fuchs A, Cella M. Chapter 52 - Innate Lymphoid Cells in Mucosal Homeostasis, Infections, Autoimmune Disorders, and Tumors. In: Mestecky J, Strober W, Russell MW, Kelsall BL, Cheroutre H, Lambrecht BN, editors. Mucosal Immunology (Fourth Edition) [Internet]. Boston: Academic Press; 2015 [cited 2020 May 20]. p. 1003–12. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780124158474000525

123. Satoh-Takayama N, Vosshenrich CAJ, Lesjean-Pottier S, Sawa S, Lochner M, Rattis F, et al. Microbial Flora Drives Interleukin 22 Production in Intestinal NKp46+ Cells that Provide Innate Mucosal Immune Defense. Immunity. 2008 Dec 19;29(6):958–70.

124. Gladiator A, Wangler N, Trautwein-Weidner K, LeibundGut-Landmann S. Cutting Edge: IL-17–Secreting Innate Lymphoid Cells Are Essential for Host Defense against Fungal Infection. J Immunol. 2013 Jan 15;190(2):521–5.

125. Chieppa M, Rescigno M, Huang AYC, Germain RN. Dynamic imaging of dendritic cell extension into the small bowel lumen in response to epithelial cell TLR engagement. J Exp Med. 2006 Dec 25;203(13):2841–52.

126. Podolsky DK, Isselbacher KJ. Composition of human colonic mucin. Selective alteration in inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Invest. 1983 Jul 1;72(1):142–53.

127. Farrell RJ, LaMont JT. Microbial factors in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2002 Mar 1;31(1):41–62.

128. Bjarnason I, O'Morain C, Levi AJ, Peters TJ. Absorption of 151chromium-labeled ethylenediaminetetraacetate in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 1983 Aug 1;85(2):318–22.

129. Hollander D, Vadheim CM, Brettholz E, Petersen GM, Delahunty T, Rotter JI. Increased intestinal permeability in patients with Crohn's disease and their relatives. A possible etiologic factor. Ann Intern Med. 1986 Dec;105(6):883–5.

130. Buhner S, Buning C, Genschel J, Kling K, Herrmann D, Dignass A, et al. Genetic basis for increased intestinal permeability in families with Crohn's disease: role of CARD15 3020insC mutation? Gut. 2006 Mar 1;55(3):342–7.

131. May GR, Sutherland LR, Meddings JB. Is small intestinal permeability really increased in relatives of patients with Crohn's disease? Gastroenterology. 1993 Jun 1;104(6):1627–32.

132. Smithson JE, Campbell A, Andrews JM, Milton JD, Pigott R, Jewell DP. Altered expression of mucins throughout the colon in ulcerative colitis. Gut. 1997 Feb 1;40(2):234–40.

133. Van der Sluis M, De Koning BAE, De Bruijn ACJM, Velcich A, Meijerink JPP,
Van Goudoever JB, et al. Muc2-Deficient Mice Spontaneously Develop Colitis, Indicating
That MUC2 Is Critical for Colonic Protection. Gastroenterology. 2006 Jul 1;131(1):117–
29.

134. Wehkamp J, Harder J, Weichenthal M, Mueller O, Herrlinger KR, Fellermann K, et al. Inducible and Constitutive β -Defensins Are Differentially Expressed in Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2003 Jul 1;9(4):215–23.

135. Wehkamp J, Salzman NH, Porter E, Nuding S, Weichenthal M, Petras RE, et al. Reduced Paneth cell α -defensins in ileal Crohn's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2005 Dec 13;102(50):18129–34.

136. Kamat A, Ancuta P, Blumberg RS, Gabuzda D. Serological Markers for Inflammatory Bowel Disease in AIDS Patients with Evidence of Microbial Translocation. PLoS ONE [Internet]. 2010 Nov 15 [cited 2020 May 20];5(11). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2981579/

137. Mayer L, Shlien R. Evidence for function of Ia molecules on gut epithelial cells in man. J Exp Med. 1987 Nov 1;166(5):1471–83.

138. Cassatella MA. The production of cytokines by polymorphonuclear neutrophils. Immunol Today. 1995 Jan 1;16(1):21–6.

139. Brazil JC, Louis NA, Parkos CA. The Role of Polymorphonuclear Leukocyte Trafficking in the Perpetuation of Inflammation During Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2013 Jun 1;19(7):1556–65.

140. Mahida YR. The Key Role of Macrophages in the Immunopathogenesis of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2000 Feb 1;6(1):21–33.

141. Geremia A, Arancibia-Cárcamo CV, Fleming MPP, Rust N, Singh B, Mortensen NJ, et al. IL-23–responsive innate lymphoid cells are increased in inflammatory bowel disease. J Exp Med. 2011 Jun 6;208(6):1127–33.

142. Bernink JH, Peters CP, Munneke M, te Velde AA, Meijer SL, Weijer K, et al. Human type 1 innate lymphoid cells accumulate in inflamed mucosal tissues. Nat Immunol. 2013 Mar;14(3):221–9.

143. Neurath MF, Fuss I, Kelsall BL, Stüber E, Strober W. Antibodies to interleukin 12 abrogate established experimental colitis in mice. J Exp Med. 1995 Nov 1;182(5):1281–90.

144. Liu Z, Colpaert S, D'Haens GR, Kasran A, Boer M de, Rutgeerts P, et al. Hyperexpression of CD40 Ligand (CD154) in Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Its Contribution to Pathogenic Cytokine Production. J Immunol. 1999 Oct 1;163(7):4049–57.

145. Parrello T, Monteleone G, Cucchiara S, Monteleone I, Sebkova L, Doldo P, et al. Up-Regulation of the IL-12 Receptor β 2 Chain in Crohn's Disease. J Immunol. 2000 Dec 15;165(12):7234–9.

146. Dambacher J, Beigel F, Zitzmann K, Toni END, Göke B, Diepolder HM, et al. The role of the novel Th17 cytokine IL-26 in intestinal inflammation. Gut. 2009 Sep 1;58(9):1207–17.

147. Fujino S, Andoh A, Bamba S, Ogawa A, Hata K, Araki Y, et al. Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 2003 Jan 1;52(1):65–70.

148. Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Liotta F, Mazzinghi B, et al. Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med. 2007 Aug 6;204(8):1849–61.

149. Hovhannisyan Z, Treatman J, Littman DR, Mayer L. Characterization of Interleukin-17–Producing Regulatory T Cells in Inflamed Intestinal Mucosa From Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Gastroenterology. 2011 Mar 1;140(3):957–65.

150. Hue S, Ahern P, Buonocore S, Kullberg MC, Cua DJ, McKenzie BS, et al. Interleukin-23 drives innate and T cell–mediated intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med. 2006 Oct 30;203(11):2473–83.

151. Fiocchi C, Battisto JR, Farmer RG. Studies on isolated gut mucosal lymphocytes in inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Dis Sci. 1981 Aug 1;26(8):728–36.

152. Gorelik L, Flavell RA. Abrogation of TGF β Signaling in T Cells Leads to Spontaneous T Cell Differentiation and Autoimmune Disease. Immunity. 2000 Feb 1;12(2):171–81.

153. Huber S, Schramm C, Lehr HA, Mann A, Schmitt S, Becker C, et al. Cutting Edge: TGF- β Signaling Is Required for the In Vivo Expansion and Immunosuppressive Capacity of Regulatory CD4+CD25+ T Cells. J Immunol. 2004 Dec 1;173(11):6526–31.

154. Powrie F, Correa-Oliveira R, Mauze S, Coffman RL. Regulatory interactions between CD45RBhigh and CD45RBlow CD4+ T cells are important for the balance between protective and pathogenic cell-mediated immunity. J Exp Med. 1994 Feb 1;179(2):589–600.

155. Mottet C, Uhlig HH, Powrie F. Cutting Edge: Cure of Colitis by CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells. J Immunol. 2003 Apr 15;170(8):3939–43.

156. Strober W, Fuss I, Mannon P. The fundamental basis of inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Invest. 2007 Mar 1;117(3):514–21.

157. Wakefield AJ, Fox JD, Sawyerr AM, Taylor JE, Sweenie CH, Smith M, et al. Detection of herpesvirus DNA in the large intestine of patients with ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease using the nested polymerase chain reaction. J Med Virol. 1992;38(3):183–90.

158. Yanai H, Shimizu N, Nagasaki S, Mitani N, Okita K. Epstein-Barr virus infection of the colon with inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 1999 Jun 1;94(6):1582–6.

159. Ryan JL, Shen Y-J, Morgan DR, Thorne LB, Kenney SC, Dominguez RL, et al. Epstein-Barr Virus Infection Is Common in Inflamed Gastrointestinal Mucosa. Dig Dis Sci. 2012 Jul 1;57(7):1887–98.

160. Gehlert T, Devergne O, Niedobitek G. Epstein–barr virus (EBV) infection and expression of the interleukin-12 family member EBV-induced gene 3 (EBI3) in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. J Med Virol. 2004;73(3):432–8.

161. Sankaran-Walters S, Ransibrahmanakul K, Grishina I, Hung J, Martinez E, Prindiville T, et al. Epstein–Barr virus replication linked to B cell proliferation in inflamed areas of colonic mucosa of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Virol. 2011 Jan 1;50(1):31–6.

162. Li X, Chen N, You P, Peng T, Chen G, Wang J, et al. The Status of Epstein-Barr Virus Infection in Intestinal Mucosa of Chinese Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Digestion. 2019;99(2):126–32.

163. Weinberg I, Neuman T, Margalit M, Ayman F, Wolf DG, Ben-Yehuda A. Epstein-Barr Virus-Related Diarrhea or Exacerbation of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Diagnostic Dilemma. J Clin Microbiol. 2009 May 1;47(5):1588–90. 164. Goetgebuer RL, van der Woude CJ, de Ridder L, Doukas M, de Vries AC. Clinical and endoscopic complications of Epstein-Barr virus in inflammatory bowel disease: an illustrative case series. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2019 May 1;34(5):923–6.

165. Wu S, He C, Tang T-Y, Li Y-Q. A review on co-existent Epstein–Barr virusinduced complications in inflammatory bowel disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019 Sep;31(9):1085–1091.

166. Zhang Z, Zheng M, Bindas J, Schwarzenberger P, Kolls JK. Critical role of IL-17 receptor signaling in acute TNBS-induced colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2006 May;12(5):382–8.

167. Yamamoto Y, Gaynor RB. Therapeutic potential of inhibition of the NF- κ B pathway in the treatment of inflammation and cancer. J Clin Invest. 2001 Jan 15;107(2):135–42.

168. Venturi, Gionchetti, Rizzello, Johansson, Zucconi, Brigidi, et al. Impact on the composition of the faecal flora by a new probiotic preparation: preliminary data on maintenance treatment of patients with ulcerative colitis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 1999 Aug;13(8):1103–8.

169. van der Marel S, Majowicz A, van Deventer S, Petry H, Hommes DW, Ferreira V. Gene and cell therapy based treatment strategies for inflammatory bowel diseases. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol. 2011 Dec 15;2(6):114–22.

170. Chassaing B, Aitken JD, Malleshappa M, Vijay-Kumar M. Dextran Sulfate Sodium (DSS)-Induced Colitis in Mice. Curr Protoc Immunol Ed John E Coligan Al. 2014 Feb 4;104:Unit-15.25.

171. Eichele DD, Kharbanda KK. Dextran sodium sulfate colitis murine model: An indispensable tool for advancing our understanding of inflammatory bowel diseases pathogenesis. World J Gastroenterol. 2017 Sep 7;23(33):6016–29.

172. Jiminez JA, Uwiera TC, Douglas Inglis G, Uwiera RRE. Animal models to study acute and chronic intestinal inflammation in mammals. Gut Pathog. 2015 Nov 10;7(1):29.

173. Cooper HS, Murthy SN, Shah RS, Sedergran DJ. Clinicopathologic study of dextran sulfate sodium experimental murine colitis. Lab Investig J Tech Methods Pathol. 1993 Aug;69(2):238–49.

174. Hughes A. A Simplified Benzidine Test. Br Med J. 1952 Nov 1;2(4791):970–5.

175. Nunes NS, Kim S, Sundby M, Chandran P, Burks SR, Paz AH, et al. Temporal clinical, proteomic, histological and cellular immune responses of dextran sulfate sodium-induced acute colitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2018 Oct 14;24(38):4341–55

176. Vowinkel T, Kalogeris TJ, Mori M, Krieglstein CF, Granger DN. Impact of Dextran Sulfate Sodium Load on the Severity of Inflammation in Experimental Colitis. Dig Dis Sci. 2004 Apr 1;49(4):556–64.

177. Yan Y, Kolachala V, Dalmasso G, Nguyen H, Laroui H, Sitaraman SV, et al. Temporal and spatial analysis of clinical and molecular parameters in dextran sodium sulfate induced colitis. PloS One. 2009 Jun 29;4(6):e6073.

178. Gonçalves F da C, Schneider NA, Mello HF, Passos EP, Meurer L, Cirne-Lima EO, et al. Characterization of acute murine dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) colitis: severity of inflammation is dependent on the DSS molecular weight and concentration. 2013;

179. Egger B, Bajaj-Elliott M, MacDonald TT, Inglin R, Eysselein VE, Büchler MW. Characterisation of Acute Murine Dextran Sodium Sulphate Colitis: Cytokine Profile and Dose Dependency. Digestion. 2000;62(4):240–8.

180. Oliveira LG de, Cunha AL da, Duarte AC, Castañon MCMN, Chebli JMF, Aguiar JAK de, et al. POSITIVE CORRELATION BETWEEN DISEASE ACTIVITY INDEX AND MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASES ACTIVITY IN A RAT MODEL OF COLITIS. Arq Gastroenterol. 2014 Jun;51(2):107–12.

181. Thorley-Lawson DA. EBV the prototypical human tumor virus--just how bad is it? J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005 Aug;116(2):251–61; quiz 262.

182. Epstein MA, Rickinson AB, Weiss RA, Crawford DH. Biology and disease associations of Epstein–Barr virus. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2001 Apr 29;356(1408):461–73.

183. Johnson KH, Webb C-H, Schmeling DO, Brundage RC, Balfour HH. Epstein–Barr virus dynamics in asymptomatic immunocompetent adults: an intensive 6-month study. Clin Transl Immunol. 2016 May 13;5(5):e81.

184. Fiola S, Gosselin D, Takada K, Gosselin J. TLR9 Contributes to the Recognition of EBV by Primary Monocytes and Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells. J Immunol. 2010 Sep 15;185(6):3620–31.

185. Lundberg P, Welander P, Han X, Cantin E. Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 DNA Is Immunostimulatory In Vitro and In Vivo. J Virol. 2003 Oct 15;77(20):11158–69.

186. Govind S. Innate immunity in Drosophila: Pathogens and pathways. Insect Sci. 2008 Feb;15(1):29–43.

187. Mu H-X, Liu J, Fatima S, Lin C-Y, Shi X-K, Du B, et al. Anti-inflammatory Actions of (+)-3' α -Angeloxy-4'-keto-3',4'-dihydroseselin (Pd-Ib) against Dextran Sulfate Sodium-Induced Colitis in C57BL/6 Mice. J Nat Prod. 2016 Apr 22;79(4):1056–62.

188. Perše M, Cerar A. Dextran sodium sulphate colitis mouse model: traps and tricks. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2012;2012:718617.

189. Mähler M, Bristol IJ, Leiter EH, Workman AE, Birkenmeier EH, Elson CO, et al. Differential susceptibility of inbred mouse strains to dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. Am J Physiol-Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 1998 Mar 1;274(3):G544–51.

190. Tytgat GN, Bartelsman JFWM, Deventer SJH van. Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Springer Science & Business Media; 1995. 746 p

191. Xiao H-T, Lin C-Y, Ho DHH, Peng J, Chen Y, Tsang S-W, et al. Inhibitory Effect of the Gallotannin Corilagin on Dextran Sulfate Sodium-Induced Murine Ulcerative Colitis. J Nat Prod. 2013 Nov 22;76(11):2120–5.